Exact results in strongly correlated electrons

Takashi Yanagisawa and Yukihiro Shimoi Physical Science Division, Electrotechnical Laboratory 1-1-4 Umezono, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305, Japan

This article is devoted to discuss two exact arguments in strongly-correlated electron systems: one is the method of reflection positivity in spin space and the other is the Perron-Frobenius theorem in matrix theory. For several specific systems, we can show that the ground state is unique and we can predict the total spin of the ground state.

Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Reflection positivity in spin space	7
2.1. Basic method	7
2.2. The negative-U Hubbard model	11
2.3. The Hubbard model at half filling	13
2.4. The Heisenberg model	16
2.5. The Kondo lattice at half filling	20
2.6. The Kondo-Hubbard model	25
2.7. Inequalities for correlation functions	26
2.8. η -spin operators	28
3. The Perron-Frobenius theorem in Linear algebra	32
3.1. Perron-Frobenius theorem: Irreducible case	32
3.2. Perron-Frobenius theorem: General case	36
3.3. Appendix: Proof of the Perron-Frobenius theorems	37
4. Applications of the Perron-Frobenius theorem to interacting sys-	
tems	43
4.1. The Heisenberg model	43
4.2. Double exchange interaction and ferromagnetism	44

1

4.3.	1D Kondo lattice in the limit of large J	47
4.4.	Kondo lattice with one conduction electron	48
4.5.	And erson lattice for $N_e = N + 1$	50
4.6.	1D Kondo lattice with large Coulomb interaction U	52
4.7.	Nagaoka ferromagnetism	55
4.8.	A zigzag Anderson lattice: $N_e \leq N$	56
4.9.	1D Hubbard model	59
5. (Concluding remarks	61

*

 $\mathbf{61}$

^{*}Int. J. Mod. Phys. B10, 3383 (1996).

1. Introduction

Strongly correlated electron systems have been studied considerably in recent years. Heavy fermions^{1,2,3} and oxide superconductors⁴ provide attractive problems for researchers of solid state physics. The fundamental models to describe strongly-correlated electrons are given by the Hubbard model, the Anderson lattice and the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian.

The Hubbard model has a long history in describing the magnetism of materials since early works by Hubbard, Gutzwiller and Kanamori.^{5,6,7} The Hubbard model has attracted much attention recently, stimulated by studies of high- T_c superconductors.^{8,9,10} Thus the importance of the Hubbard model of itinerant electrons is increasingly being appreciated. One-dimensional Hubbard model is now understood in a very elegant way by means of the Bethe ansatz ^{11,12,13} and conformal field theory.^{14,15,16} The solutions revealed that the weak-coupling bosonization theory^{17,18} can well describe the ground state of the 1D Hubbard model, which established a novel concept of the Luttinger liquid.¹⁹ In spite of the success for the one-dimensional correlated models such as the Hubbard model and the t-J model, correlated electrons in two- or three-dimensional space are still far from a complete understanding. In the study of the Hubbard model, main topics are likely the following:

- (H1) Metal-insulator transition: Metal or Insulator?
- (H2) Magnetism: Ferromagnetism or Antiferromagnetism?
- (H3) Possibility of a superconductivity.
- (H4) Fermi liquid or non-Fermi liquid.
- (H5) Quantum Critical Phenomena.

The topic (H1) concerns the Mott transition due to large Coulomb repulsion.²⁰ In this article, of central importance is given by (H2): the magnetism of the Hubbard model. The magnetism is intrinsically given by quantum many-body effects which mainly arises from the strong Coulomb interactions.²¹ Quantum effects prevent us from easy understanding of antiferromagnetism or ferromagnetism of itinerant electrons.²² Recently the non-Fermi liquid behaviors associated with quantum critical phenomema have attracted much attention. ^{23,24,25,26} Thus exact results are important as bench marks although they are limited to special cases.

The Kondo lattice Hamiltonian or the periodic Anderson model (or Anderson lattice Hamiltonian) are established as models to describe heavy fermions that contain rare-earth or actinide ions and show very characteristic behaviors. In particular, they have large electron densities of states which are accompanied by a linear specific heat and an almost temperature independent spin susceptibility. They behave like Fermi liquids with very heavy mass which can become as large as several hundred or a thousand times the free electron mass.^{1,2,3} These systems can be described by

the conduction electrons and the localized f electrons which interact through a hybridization interaction or an exchange type of interaction. The following are likely to be questions concerning the Kondo lattice or the Anderson lattice Hamiltonian:

- (K1) Fermi liquid state with heavy mass.
- (K2) Interplay between the Kondo effect^{27,28} and the RKKY interactions.^{29,30,31}
- (K3) Magnetism: Ferromagnetism or Antiferromagnetism?
- (K4) Anisotropic superconductivity.³²
- (K5) Metal-Insulator transition: Kondo insulators.
- (K6) Antiferromagnetism and superconductivity: Coexistence.
- (K7) Quantum critical phenomena: Non-Fermi liquid.^{25,26}

Similar issues are addressed for the Kondo systems compared to the Hubbard model except (K1) and (K2). If we remember the long debate concerning the Kondo problem, obviously they are not easy task to find solutions. As for the problem (K5), SmB₆ and YbB₁₂ provide us examples of Kondo insulators,^{33,34,35,36} which can be modeled as the Anderson lattice in which we have one electron at each site, corresponding to the quarter-filled case. We also comment that there are theories which insist that Kondo insulators may be described by the half-filled Anderson lattice model.^{37,38} The Kondo matrials such as CeNiSn^{39,40,41} are also known as Kondo insulators or low-carrier Kondo systems. It should be considered that several types of Kondo insulators show completely different behaviors. As for the compound Yb₄As₃, a mechanism of the metal-insulator transition due to a concept of 'self-doping' was recently proposed.^{42,43} Recently, impurities embedded in correlated electrons are becoming a hot subject.^{44,45,46,47}

In this paper, let us investigate two methods which sometimes provide us exact information: they are the reflection positivity in the spin space and the Perron-Frobenius theorem. First, we discuss the method of the reflection positivity in the spin space. This method was first applied to the negative-U Hubbard model with an even number of electrons and the positive-U Hubbard model at half filling.⁴⁸ We start from writing a wave function in a matrix form.⁴⁹ If the matrix can be shown to be positive semidefinite, a uniqueness of the ground state is proved. This method is called the reflection positivity in the spin space (or the spin-reflection positivity) in analogy with the reflection positivity in field theory.⁵⁰ We apply this method to the Heisenberg model, the Kondo lattice and the Kondo-Hubbard model for the half-filled conduction band. The spin-correlation functions such as $\langle S_i^+ S_i^- \rangle$ are proved to have definite signs. The spin-reflection positivity is clearly related to the antiferromagnetic correlations in the Heisenberg model and the positive-UHubbard model at half filling. In a proof of the spin-reflection positivity, we make a partial electron-hole transformation where the spin operators are transformed into the η -spin (or pseudo spin) operators. Thus we shall add a section to discuss some properties of η -operators.

Second, let us discuss the Perron-Frobenius theorem applied to many-electron

systems. The Chapter **3** is devoted to present the Perron-Frobenius theorem and its proof. This Chapter can be skipped if readers are familiar with the Perron-Frobenius theorem. In the Chapter **4**, we discuss several examples of correlated electron systems for which the Perron-Frobenius theorem is applicable. A first one is the Heisenberg model which was considered by Lieb and Mattis more than thirty years ago. Secondly, the double exchange interaction is discussed in the light of the Perron-Frobenius theorem, which may be important for the ferromagnetism of solid. The double exchange has a long history and its relevance may be realized in the Kondo systems. In several limits of parameters included in the Kondo lattice or the Anderson lattice Hamiltonians, we can expect the ferromagnetism due to the double exchange interaction. Thirdly, the Nagaoka ferromagnetism is discussed from the viewpoint of the Perron-Frobenius theorem. The last Chapter is devoted to some remarks.

In the remaining part of Introduction, we shall introduce the Hubbard model, the Anderson model (lattice) and the Kondo model (lattice) in order to indicate notations in this paper. This part can be skipped if readers are acquainted with them. Let us start with the Hubbard model written as^5

$$H = \sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{\downarrow}, \qquad (1)$$

where $c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}(c_{i\sigma})$ denote the creation (annihilation) operators of electrons and $n_{i\sigma} =$ $c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{i\sigma}$ are number operators. t_{ij} and U are parameters which control the electron states and the other important parameter is the dimensionality of space. The Uterm represents the Coulomb interaction which works when the two electrons occupy the same site. We denote the number of lattice sites and electrons as N and N_e , respectively. Although the Hamiltonian (1) is quite simple, its understanding is extraordinary difficult and it may form one of the high mountains in theoretical physics. In most cases we assume that t_{ij} are non-zero between nearest-neighbor sites. In the non-interacting limit U = 0, the Hamiltonian is easily diagonalized by introducing the Fourier transform of $c_{i\sigma}$. The ground state is obtained by filling the energy levels up to the Fermi energy. In the other limit $t_{ii} = 0$, each site is occupied by the up or down-spin electron, or is empty. This state is clearly insulating. The non-zero t_{ij} induce the movement of electrons, which leads to the metallic state if $N_e \neq N$. At half filling $N_e = N$, the ground state is considered to be insulating if U is large enough. This insulating state is described by the Heisenberg model given by

$$H = J \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j.$$
⁽²⁾

In connection with the Hubbard model, J is given as $J = 4t^2/U$.⁵¹ For the nearestneighbor transfers $-t = t_{ij}$, the effective Hamiltonian for $N_e \neq N$ is given by

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} a^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} a_{j\sigma} - \frac{t^2}{U} \sum_{j\mu\mu'} [a^{\dagger}_{j+\mu\uparrow} a^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} a_{j\downarrow} a_{j+\mu'\uparrow} + a^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow} a^{\dagger}_{j+\mu\downarrow} a_{j+\mu'\downarrow} a_{j\uparrow}$$

$$+ a^{\dagger}_{j+\mu\uparrow}a^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow}a_{j+\mu'\downarrow}a_{j\uparrow} + a^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow}a^{\dagger}_{j+\mu\downarrow}a_{j\downarrow}a_{j+\mu'\uparrow}], \qquad (3)$$

where we have written $a_{i\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}(1 - n_{i,-\sigma})$ and $j + \mu$ and $j + \mu'$ indicate the nearest-neighbor sites. The second term involves three-site terms when $\mu \neq \mu'$.

The second fundamental models are the Anderson model⁵² and its extension to the periodic case. The periodic Anderson model (or Anderson lattice Hamiltonian) is given by⁵³

$$H = \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + \epsilon_f \sum_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma} + V \sum_{i\sigma} (c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma} + f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma}) + U_f \sum_{i} n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}, \qquad (4)$$

where $f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}(f_{i\sigma})$ are creation (annihilation) operators of the localized electron (f electrons) and we write $n_{fi\sigma} = f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma}$. The last term shows the Coulomb interaction between the localized electrons If we introduce the wave number **k** for $c_{i\sigma}$:

$$c_{k\sigma} = \frac{1}{N^{1/2}} \sum_{j} e^{-ik \cdot R_j} c_{j\sigma}, \qquad (5)$$

the Hamiltonian is written as

j

$$H = \sum_{k\sigma} \epsilon_k c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} c_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} + \epsilon_f \sum_{i\sigma} f^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma} + \frac{1}{N^{1/2}} \sum_{jk\sigma} (V_k e^{-ik \cdot R_j} c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} f_{j\sigma} + h.c.) + U_f \sum_i n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}.$$
(6)

The hybridization parameter V is generalized to include the **k**-dependence. In the non-interacting case where $U_f = 0$, we have the upper and lower bands with the dispersions given by

$$E_{k}^{\pm} = \frac{\epsilon_{k} + \epsilon_{f}}{2} \pm \left[\left(\frac{\epsilon_{k} - \epsilon_{f}}{2} \right)^{2} + |V_{k}|^{2} \right]^{1/2}.$$
 (7)

In the Kondo limit where the level of f electrons is located far below the Fermi level and U_f is large compared to t and V, the effective Hamiltonian is given by the Kondo lattice model

$$H = \sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + J \sum_{i} \sigma_{i} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{i}, \qquad (8)$$

where σ_i and \mathbf{S}_i denote the spin operators of the conduction electrons and localized electrons, respectively. σ_i^a (a = x, y and z) is written as $\sigma_i^a = \sum_{\sigma\sigma'} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} \sigma_{\sigma\sigma'}^a c_{i\sigma'}$ where $\sigma_{\sigma\sigma'}^a$ are Pauli matrices. According to the Schrieffer-Wolff formula,⁵⁴ the exchange interaction is expressed as

$$J = V^2 \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon_f + U} - \frac{1}{\epsilon_f}\right). \tag{9}$$

The Anderson lattice and the Kondo lattice are more hard to clarify their physics than the Hubbard model because of the two-band nature and may include fruitful physical phases. The above three models are fundamental in the solid state physics.

2. Reflection positivity in the spin space

2.1. Basic method

The purpose of the method of reflection positivity is to derive an inequality for the ground state energy based on the Schwarz inequality. In order to apply this method, we have to specify the lattice Λ and basis states on it. The number of the sites is denoted by $|\Lambda|$ and we assume that the number of lattice sites $|\Lambda|$ is finite. In this paper, let us consider the Hamiltonians which conserve \mathbf{S}^2 and S^z . The spin operators are the quadratic operators

$$S^{+} = (S^{-})^{\dagger} = \sum_{i \in \Lambda} c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}, \quad S^{z} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in \Lambda} (n_{i\uparrow} - n_{i\downarrow}), \tag{10}$$

and $\mathbf{S}^2 = (1/2)(S^+S^- + S^-S^+) + (S^z)^2$, with eigenvalues S(S+1). We work in the subspace $S^z = 0$ for an even number of electrons. There are two kind of electrons with spin up and spin down. We denote a set of basis states as $X^{\sigma} \equiv \{\psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma}\}_{\alpha \in I}$ which is an orthonomal basis set composed solely of spin- σ electrons. (*I* denotes a set of indices.) The total bases are written as a superposition of the up and down basis states $\{\psi_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \psi_{\alpha}^{\dagger} \otimes \psi_{\beta}^{\dagger}\}$. Then a wave function is written as a linear combination of $\psi_{\alpha\beta}$: ⁴⁹

$$\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha}^{\uparrow} \otimes \psi_{\beta}^{\downarrow}.$$
 (11)

The wave function ψ is represented by a coefficient matrix $C = (C_{\alpha\beta})$, which indicates that ψ can be interpreted as a map $C : X^{\downarrow} \to X^{\uparrow}$. We denote ψ as $\psi(C)$. X^{\uparrow} and X^{\downarrow} are vector spaces with the same finite dimension. Let us denote operators acting on the vector space X^{σ} as \hat{O}^{σ} , which are assumed to be products of an even number of operators such as $\hat{O}^{\sigma} = c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma}c_{j\sigma}$. It is easy to calculate an operation \hat{O}^{σ} to ψ ,

$$\hat{O}^{\uparrow}\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \hat{O}^{\uparrow}\psi_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{\alpha\beta} \sum_{\alpha'\beta'} C_{\alpha\beta} |\psi_{\alpha'\beta'}\rangle \langle\psi_{\alpha'\beta'}| \hat{O}^{\uparrow} |\psi_{\alpha\beta}\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} \sum_{\alpha'\beta'} C_{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\alpha'\beta'}\delta_{\beta\beta'} \langle\psi_{\alpha'}^{\uparrow}| \hat{O}^{\uparrow} |\psi_{\alpha}^{\uparrow}\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta\alpha'} (O^{\uparrow})_{\alpha'\alpha} C_{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\alpha'\beta}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} (O^{\uparrow}C)_{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (12)$$

where $(O^{\uparrow})_{\alpha'\alpha} = \langle \psi^{\uparrow}_{\alpha'} | \hat{O}^{\uparrow} | \psi^{\uparrow}_{\alpha} \rangle$ are matrix elements of \hat{O}^{\uparrow} . $\hat{O}^{\uparrow}\psi$ is realized by a multiplication of matrices $O^{\uparrow}C$. Similarly, one can obtain

$$\hat{O}^{\downarrow}\psi = \sum_{lphaeta} C_{lphaeta}\hat{O}^{\downarrow}\psi_{lphaeta}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta\beta'} C_{\alpha\beta} (O^{\downarrow t})_{\beta\beta'} \psi_{\alpha\beta'}$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} (CO^{\downarrow t})_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (13)$$

where $O^{\downarrow t}$ is the transposed matrix of O^{\downarrow} . An application of \hat{O}^{\downarrow} to ψ reads $CO^{\downarrow t}$ in terms of coefficient matrix. It is easy to see that

$$\hat{O}^{\uparrow}\hat{O}^{\downarrow}\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} \sum_{\alpha'\beta'} (O^{\uparrow})_{\alpha'\alpha} C_{\alpha\beta} (O^{\downarrow t})_{\beta\beta'} \psi_{\alpha'\beta'}$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} (O^{\uparrow}CO^{\downarrow t})_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(14)

In the following, we assume that the basis states are real so that matrices O^{σ} are real, which is always possible without loss of generality. Thus we write $O^{\sigma\dagger} = O^{\sigma t}$ in this paper. Now it is straightforward to write down the Schrödinger equations and the energy expectation values. Let us suppose that the Hamiltonian is given as

$$H = K^{\uparrow} + K^{\downarrow} + g \sum_{a} V_a^{\uparrow} V_a^{\downarrow}, \qquad (15)$$

where K^{σ} and V_a^{σ} are operators for spin σ . The third term shows interactions between electrons and g is a coupling constant. We can choose the basis states so that K^{σ} and V_a^{σ} are real symmetric. We use the same notations to show matrices of K^{σ} and V_a^{σ} . The Schrödinger equation $H\psi = E\psi$ is written as

$$K^{\uparrow}C + CK^{\downarrow\dagger} + g\sum_{a} V_{a}^{\uparrow}CV_{a}^{\downarrow\dagger} = EC.$$
(16)

A hermitian conjugate of this equation reads

$$K^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + C^{\dagger}K^{\uparrow\dagger} + g\sum_{a}V_{a}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}V_{a}^{\uparrow\dagger} = EC^{\dagger}.$$
(17)

Hence, if we have the up-down symmetry of spin for basis states, C and C^{\dagger} satisfy the same Schrödinger equation. Thus $C + C^{\dagger}$ and $C - C^{\dagger}$ are also solutions of the Schrödinger equation, and therefore we can assume that C is hermitian from the beginning. Note that two conditions (1) K^{σ} and V_a^{σ} are real and (2) $K^{\sigma} = K^{-\sigma}$, $V^{\sigma} = V^{-\sigma}$ (up-down symmetry) are needed to obtain the hermitian matrix C. Now, by applying C^{\dagger} and taking Trace in eq.(16), the energy eigenvalue is easily calculated as

$$E(C) = Tr(C^{\dagger}K^{\dagger}C + CK^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) + g\sum_{a} TrC^{\dagger}V_{a}^{\dagger}CV_{a}^{\downarrow\dagger},$$
(18)

with the normalization $\langle \psi | \psi \rangle = TrC^{\dagger}C = 1$. For g < 0, we can apply the Schwarz inequality:

$$TrC^{\dagger}V_{a}CV_{a}^{\dagger} \le TrPV_{a}PV_{a}^{\dagger},\tag{19}$$

where $V_a = V_a^{\uparrow} = V_a^{\downarrow}$ and P is the positive semidefinite matrix given as $P = (C^{\dagger}C)^{1/2}$. This inequality is easily proved as follows. Since C is hermitian, C can be diagonalized by a unitary matrix U:

$$C = U^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon_1 & & \\ & \epsilon_2 & \\ & & \ddots \end{bmatrix} U,$$
(20)

with real eigenvalues ϵ_{α} . An eigenvector which belongs to the eigenvalue ϵ_{α} is given by $|\alpha\rangle = U^{\dagger}(0, \dots, 0, 1^{(\alpha)}, 0, \dots, 0)^{t}$ which satisfies $C|\alpha\rangle = \epsilon_{\alpha}|\alpha\rangle$. Then,

$$TrC^{\dagger}VCV^{\dagger} = \sum_{\alpha\beta} \langle \alpha | C^{\dagger}VC | \beta \rangle \langle \beta | V^{\dagger} | \alpha \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta} \langle \alpha | V | \beta \rangle \langle \beta | V^{\dagger} | \alpha \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta} |\langle \alpha | V | \beta \rangle|^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\alpha\beta} |\epsilon_{\alpha}| |\epsilon_{\beta}| |\langle \alpha | V | \beta \rangle|^{2} = TrPVPV^{\dagger}, \qquad (21)$$

where P is defined by

$$P = U^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} |\epsilon_1| & & \\ & |\epsilon_2| & \\ & & \ddots \end{bmatrix} U.$$
 (22)

P has $|\epsilon_{\alpha}|$ as eigenvalues and satisfies $P|\alpha\rangle = |\epsilon_{\alpha}||\alpha\rangle$. For negative values of g, we obtain an inequality

$$E(C) \ge E(P). \tag{23}$$

Therefore, if we assume that $\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}$ is the ground-state wave function, the following equality is followed:

$$E(C) = E(P). \tag{24}$$

This equation imposes strong constraints on the ground state, which enables us to show that the ground state is unique under some conditions. Apparently, C = P is a solution of E(C) = E(P). Hence there is a state which satisfies C = P among the ground states.

In order to prove a uniqueness of the ground state, we should show that C = P(or C = -P) is a unique solution of the equation E(C) = E(P) because we easily reach a contradiction if we assume that there are two ground states.⁴⁸ For this purpose, we need some conditions on the lattice. One idea to show the uniqueness was shown by Lieb.⁴⁸. Let us define a positive semidefinite matrix R = P - Cand show that R = 0. Since R can be regarded as a map $R : X^{\downarrow} \to X^{\uparrow}, R = 0$ means that Rv = 0 for every $v \in X^{\downarrow}$, i.e. $K \equiv \{v \in X^{\downarrow} | Rv = 0\} = X^{\downarrow}$. If all the eigenvalues have the same sign, $C = \pm P$ holds and we have nothing to prove. Thus, we assume that $C \neq -P$. Then R has at least one zero eigenvalue, indicating that there is an eigenvector v such that Rv = 0 for some $v \in X^{\downarrow}$. Because P also satisfies the Schrödinger equation (P is the wave function of the ground state), we obtain for R,

$$K^{\uparrow}R + RK^{\downarrow\dagger} + g\sum_{a} V_{a}^{\uparrow}RV_{a}^{\downarrow\dagger} = ER.$$
 (25)

From Rv = 0, it follows that

$$\sum_{a} \langle v | V_a^{\uparrow} R V_a^{\downarrow \dagger} | v \rangle = 0.$$
 (26)

Because of the up-down symmetry, we have

$$\langle v|V_a^{\uparrow}RV_a^{\downarrow\dagger}|V\rangle = \langle v|V_a^{\downarrow}RV_a^{\downarrow\dagger}|v\rangle = \sum_{\alpha} r_{\alpha}|\langle v|V_a^{\downarrow}|\alpha\rangle|^2 \ge 0,$$
(27)

where $r_{\alpha} = |\epsilon_{\alpha}| - \epsilon_{\alpha} geq0$. Therefore $\langle v | V_a^{\downarrow} R V_a^{\downarrow\dagger} | v \rangle = 0$ for any a. Since R is positive semidefinite, one can write $\langle v_a | v_a \rangle = 0$ for $v_a = R^{1/2} V_a^{\downarrow\dagger} | v \rangle$ where $R^{1/2}$ is uniquely determined. Then we obtain $v_a = 0$ which implies

$$RV_a^{\downarrow\dagger}|v\rangle = \langle v|V_a^{\uparrow}R = 0.$$
⁽²⁸⁾

Now

$$RK^{\downarrow\dagger}|v\rangle = 0 \tag{29}$$

is also followed. For the Hubbard model, K^{\downarrow} is the kinetic energy term and V_a^{\downarrow} are given by a matrix of number operators $n_{i\downarrow}$. In this case, if we assume the connectivity of the lattice, we can create every vector in X^{\downarrow} by successive application of $K^{\downarrow\dagger}$ and $V_i^{\downarrow\dagger}$ $(i \in \Lambda)$ starting from a any vector $v \in X^{\downarrow}$. Thus we have $K = \{v \in$ $X^{\downarrow} | Rv = 0\} = X^{\downarrow}$ and then R = 0, i.e. P = C. This will prove the uniqueness for the following reason. If there are two normalized ground state C_1 and C_2 with $C_1 \neq C_2$, then for every real constant α , the hermitian matrix $C_1 + \alpha C_2$ $(\neq 0)$ represents a ground state. We can choose α so that $C_1 + \alpha C_2$ is never positive (or negative) semidefinite. This contradicts the property that the ground state $C_1 + \alpha C_2$ should be positive semidefinite.

We have shown the outline of a proof to show the uniqueness of the ground state. We have two steps; first we show an equality (1) E(C) = E(P) and second, one has to show (2) C = P (or C = -P). The negative g < 0 means an attractive interaction for the Hubbard model. Therefore, the method is strictly restricted to models where the interaction is attractive or can be transformed into attractive one by some transformations which preserve the up-down symmetry.

Let us mention that we cannot predict the total spin of the ground state within the theory of positive semidefinite matrix without exceptional cases. In many cases we can only show that the ground state is unique and we should refer to other methods, for example, the Perron-Frobenius theorem, to obtain the total spin S.

2.2. The negative-U Hubbard model

As a first example, let us consider the Hubbard model with the negative Coulomb interactions, which is given as

$$H = -\sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}, \qquad (30)$$

where $c_{i\sigma}(c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger})$ denote annihilation (creation) operators of the conduction electrons. The Coulomb interaction parameter U is assumed to be negative (U < 0). We also assume that the number of electrons is even. Let us denote the lattice on which the Hamiltonian is defined as Λ .

Definition A lattice Λ is said to be connected with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$ if there is a connected path of bonds by $\{t_{ij}\}$ between every pair of sites: for any $i, j \in \Lambda$, $t_{ij} \neq 0$ or there is a set of sites $\{i_1, \dots, i_n\} \subset \Lambda$ such that $t_{ii_1}t_{i_1i_2} \cdots t_{i_{n-1}i_n}t_{i_nj} \neq 0$.

The theorem obtained by Lieb is written as:

Theorem 2.1 We assume that Λ is connected and we have an even number of electrons. Then the ground state of the Hubbard model is unique for any negative U < 0 and has S = 0.

Remarks No other conditions on t_{ij} are needed. Since the Hamiltonian is isotropic in the spin space, we can work in the subspace $S^z = 0$. Let $\{\psi_{\alpha\beta} = \psi^{\dagger}_{\alpha} \otimes \psi^{\downarrow}_{\beta}\}$ be a set of real basis states within the subspace $S^z = 0$. The ground state wave function is written as $\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}$ as is shown in the preceeding section.

Proof The expectation value of the Hamiltonian is written as

$$E(C) = Tr(C^{\dagger}K^{\uparrow}C + CK^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) + U\sum_{i} TrC^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\uparrow}CN_{i}^{\downarrow}, \qquad (31)$$

where matrices are defined as

$$(K^{\sigma})_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \psi^{\sigma}_{\alpha} | -\sum_{ij} t_{ij} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} | \psi^{\sigma}_{\beta} \rangle, \qquad (32)$$

$$(N_i^{\sigma})_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{i\sigma} | \psi_{\beta}^{\sigma} \rangle.$$
(33)

 K^{σ} and N_i^{σ} are real symmetric matrices. According to the up-down symmetry, we have $K^{\uparrow} = K^{\downarrow}$ and $N_i^{\uparrow} = N_i^{\downarrow}$. Hence C can be assumed to be hermitian from eqs.(16) and (17). Now we can apply the Schwarz inequality

$$TrC^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\dagger}CN_{i}^{\downarrow} \le TrPN_{i}^{\dagger}PN_{i}^{\downarrow}, \qquad (34)$$

to E(C) and obtain

$$E(C) \ge E(P),\tag{35}$$

for U < 0 where P is the positive semidefinite matrix defined by eq.(22): $P = (C^{\dagger}C)^{1/2}$. If we assume that ψ is the ground state, we have E(C) = E(P). Then C = P (or C = -P) is a solution of this equation. In order to show a uniqueness of the ground state, we define R = P - C following the outline in **2.1** and show that $\operatorname{Ker} R \equiv \{v \in X^{\downarrow} | Rv = 0\} = X^{\downarrow}$. First, note that R satisfies

$$K^{\uparrow}R + RK^{\downarrow} + U\sum_{i} N_{i}^{\uparrow}RN_{i}^{\downarrow} = ER.$$
(36)

R has at least one eigenvector which belongs to zero eigenvalue: Rv = 0 (otherwise we have P = -C.) From eq.(36), we obtain

$$\langle v|\sum_{i}N_{i}RN_{i}|v\rangle = 0, \qquad (37)$$

where $N_i \equiv N_i^{\downarrow} = N_i^{\uparrow}$. Since *R* is positive semidefinite, $RN_i^{\downarrow}v = 0(\forall i)$ are followed. This implies $RK^{\downarrow}v = 0$. Then we can show that by successive application of N_i^{\downarrow} and K^{\downarrow} , one can construct every vector starting from *v* in the space X^{\downarrow} . In order to see this, let us write an initial vector in the form,

$$v = c_{i_1\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{i_2\downarrow}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{i_{N_e/2}\downarrow}^{\dagger} |0\rangle.$$
(38)

If we want to move an electron on the site i_1 , we apply operators $N_{i_2}^{\downarrow} \cdots N_{i_{N_c/2}}^{\downarrow} K^{\downarrow}$ to v. In order to fix a direction of transfer, we further apply N_j^{\downarrow} where j is a site connected to i_1 by the kinetic term. Repeating this procedure, we can construct all the vectors in X^{\downarrow} , which is guaranteed by the connectivity of t_{ij} on the lattice. Then we can show that C = P is a unique solution of E(C) = E(P), which concludes the uniqueness of the ground state. Therefore the ground state is connected for all U < 0 and unique without level crossings with respect to U(<0). In the limit $-U \to \infty$, the ground state has clearly S = 0. Or we can make the following discussion. Since C is positive semidefinite now, $TrC = \sum_{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha} > 0$ (if TrC = 0, then C = 0). Thus we have $C_{\alpha\alpha} \neq 0$ for some α . $\psi_{\alpha\alpha}$ is the basis state which has only the double occupied sites and obviously has S = 0. \Box

The proof of *Theorem 2.1* leads to a stronger statement.

Corollary Under the assumptions of the *Theorem 2.1*, the coefficient matrix C of the ground state is strictly positive definite.

Proof We have shown that C is positive semidefinite. Let us assume that C has a vanishing eigenvalue ϵ_1 . Then $v = U^{\dagger}(1, 0, \dots, 0)^t$ (where U is a unitary matrix in eq.(20)) satisfies Rv = 0 for R = P - C. This means that $\text{Ker}R = X^{\downarrow}$ and P = C. Similarly, we obtain Sv = 0 for S = P + C and then P = -C is followed. Thus we have C = -C; i.e. C = 0. This is a contradiction. (The ground state should be non-trivial $C \neq 0$.) Hence C has no zero eigenvalues and then is positive definite. \Box

It is obvious that we can generalize the Hamiltonian where the strength of attractive force is site dependent $U_i < 0$.

2.3. The Hubbard model at half filling

An attractive interaction is essential to apply the Schwarz inequality to the energy expectation value. If we remember that the repulsive Hubbard model

$$H = -\sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{i\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}, \qquad (39)$$

can be transformed to an attractive one by the electron-hole transformation for the half-filled case,^{55,56} the positive semidefinite matrix method is also applicable to the repulsive model.

Definition A lattice Λ is said to be bipartite with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$ if Λ is divided into two disjoint sublattices A and B such that $t_{ij} = 0$ for $i \in A$ and $j \in A$ or $i \in B$ and $j \in B$. Conventionally, we say that a lattice is bipartite if this condition holds.

We should assume that the lattice Λ is bipartite. The following statement is important.⁴⁸

Theorem 2.2 Let us assume that Λ is bipartite and connected with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$. The number of electrons N_e is equal to the number of the lattice $|\Lambda|$. We further assume that N_e is even. Then the ground state of the Hubbard model for U > 0 is unique apart from a trivial degeneracy due to S^z .

Proof We have included the chemical potential $\mu = U/2$ so as to consider the half-filled case. We work in the space $S^z = 0$. First we make the partial electronhole transformation for the down spin: $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}, c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$ and $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow -c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}, c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in B$. The up spins are unaltered. Then the Hamiltonian is transformed to

$$\tilde{H} = -\sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{i\sigma} - U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}.$$
(40)

We denote the number operators as $N_{\sigma} = \sum_{i} n_{i\sigma}$. They transform as $N_{\uparrow} \to N_{\uparrow}$ and $N_{\downarrow} \to |\Lambda| - N_{\downarrow}$. The condition $N_{\uparrow} + N_{\downarrow} = |\Lambda|$ becomes $N_{\uparrow} = N_{\downarrow}$ in the new system. The spin operators transform as

$$S^{z} = \frac{1}{2}(N_{\uparrow} - N_{\downarrow}) \to J^{z} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(N^{\uparrow} + N^{\downarrow} - |\Lambda|), \qquad (41)$$

$$S^{+} = \sum_{i} c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} \to \eta^{\dagger} \equiv \sum_{i} \epsilon_{i} c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}, \qquad (42)$$

$$S^{-} = \sum_{i} c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow} c_{i\uparrow} \to \eta = \sum_{i} \epsilon_{i} c_{i\downarrow} c_{i\uparrow}, \qquad (43)$$

$$\mathbf{S}^2 \to \mathbf{J}^2 \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\eta^{\dagger} \eta + \eta \eta^{\dagger}) + (J^z)^2, \qquad (44)$$

where $\epsilon_i = 1$ for $i \in A$ and $\epsilon_i = -1$ for $i \in B$. η operators commute with \hat{H} , and the z-component of the total spin is transformed to $J^z = 0$. The ground-state wave function is written as $\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}$ and the expectation value of \tilde{H} is given by

$$E(C) = Tr(C^{\dagger}K^{\uparrow}C + CK^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) + \mu \sum_{i} Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\uparrow}C + CN_{i}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) - U\sum_{i} TrC^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\uparrow}CN_{i}^{\downarrow}.$$

$$(45)$$

We can assume the up-down symmetry $K^{\uparrow} = K^{\downarrow}$ and $N_i^{\uparrow} = N_i^{\downarrow}$, and then C is assumed to be hermitian. Therefore the energy inquality holds: $E(C) \ge E(P)$. Now the same method as in *Theorem 2.1* proves *Theorem 2.2*.

Clearly we can repeat the same arguments in the subspace $S^z = 0, 1, \dots, |\Lambda|/2$ (when $|\Lambda|$ is assumed to be even). Hence in each subspace with definite values of S^z , we can prove the uniqueness of lowest energy state. It should be noted that C is shown to be strictly positive definite as is in *Corollary* of *Theorem 2.1*.

In Theorem 2.2 we have assumed that $|\Lambda| = N_e$ is even.⁴⁸ This condition can be relaxed since the proof is also relevant when $|\Lambda|$ is odd. We work in the subspace $S^z = 1/2$ for odd $|\Lambda|$. After the electron-hole transformation for the up-spin electrons, our model is transformed to the negative-U Hubbard model with an even number of electrons. Hence we can say in the following way.

Theorem 2.2' Let us assume that Λ is bipartite and connected with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$. The number of electrons N_e is equal to the number of the lattice $|\Lambda|$. Then the ground state of the Hubbard model for U > 0 is unique apart from a trivial degeneracy due to S^z .

In order to determine the total spin of the ground state, we take the limit $U \to \infty$. In the large-U case, the original Hamiltonian is transformed onto the Heisenberg model. For the spin-1/2 Heisenberg on a bipartite lattice, the signs of coefficients $C_{\alpha\beta}$ in the ground state are uniquely determined. Mathematically, this is proved by the Perron-Frobenius theorem in matrix theory. This fact will lead us to determine the total spin of the ground state, which is a theorem given by Lieb and Mattis:⁵⁷

Lemma 2.3 Let us consider the spin-1/2 antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model on a connected and bipartite lattice,

$$H_A = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j, \tag{46}$$

where J_{ij} are non-zero for $i \in A$ and $j \in B$ or $i \in B$ and $j \in A$. Let us denote the number of sites in A and B sublattices as |A| and |B|, respectively, and assume that $|A| \ge |B|$. Then the ground state of H_A has S = (|A| - |B|)/2.

According to this Lemma, we can say that

Corollary We assume that the same conditions for the Hubbard model with U > 0 at half filling. Then the ground state has S = (|A| - |B|)/2.

Therefore we have a ferromagnetic state for |A| > |B|. This ferromagnetism (more correctly, ferrimagnetism) should be understood in the sense that the total spin is proportional to the number of electrons. A two-dimensional model in high- T_c oxide superconductors provide us an example of a model of ferromagnetism. The noninteracting case has three bands which are bonding, non-bonding, and anti-bonding bands. The half-filled case has electrons in the non-bonding dispersionless band, which supports the ferromagnetism. It is quite likely that this model describes an insulator.

Since the lowest energy state is unique in each subspace with definite value of S^z , inequalities $E_g(S) < E_g(S+1)$ holds for $S \ge (|A| - |B|)/2$ where $E_g(S)$ is the lowest energy with the total spin S.⁵⁷

It is easy to see that we can replace the Coulomb interactions by the sitedependent ones $\sum_i U_i n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}$ as fas as $U_i > 0$ ($\forall i$). One can also include the sitedependent one-body term such as $\sum_i \epsilon_i n_{i\sigma}$ as far as $\epsilon_i = -U_i/2$. This observation leads us to investigate the (periodic) Anderson model. Let us consider the periodic Anderson model given as

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{ci\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + V \sum_{i\sigma} (c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma} + h.c.) + \epsilon_f \sum_{i\sigma} n_{fi\sigma} + U_f \sum_{i} n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}, \qquad (47)$$

where $f_{i\sigma}(f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger})$ denote operators of the localized electrons and we write $n_{fi\sigma} = f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}f_{i\sigma}$ and $n_{ci\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{i\sigma}$. We set $\epsilon_f = -U_f/2$ (symmetric case). $\langle ij \rangle$ indicates a nearest-neighbor pair of sites. The last term indicates the Coulomb interaction between the f electrons, and the fourth term drives hybridization processes between the conduction electrons and localized electrons. This model has been investigated by many methods such as numerical calculations^{59,60,61,62}, variational theory, ^{63,64,65,66,67,68,69,70,71,72} and renormalized band theory.⁷³ A slight extension of *Theorem 2.2* proves the following theorem.⁵⁸

Theorem 2.4 Let us consider the symmetric Anderson model on a bipartite and connected lattice where the total lattice including both the conduction and f electrons is bipartite. The lattice of the conduction electrons is also bipartite itself where t_{ij} are assumed to be zero for $i, j \in A$ or $i, j \in B$. We examine the halffilled case in which we set $\mu = U/2$ and $\epsilon_f = -U_f/2$. Then the ground state of the symmetric periodic Anderson model is unique for U > 0 and $U_f > 0$, and has S=0.

Proof We again make the electron-hole transformation for the down spin: $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$, $c_{j\downarrow} \rightarrow -c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -c_{j\downarrow}$ for $j \in B$, $f_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow -f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -f_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$, and $f_{j\downarrow} \rightarrow f_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $f_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow f_{j\downarrow}$ for $j \in B$. The up electrons are unaltered. Then the Hamiltonian is transformed into

$$\tilde{H} = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} + \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{i\sigma} - U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}
+ V \sum_{i\sigma} (c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma} + h.c.) - \epsilon_f \sum_{i\sigma} n_{fi\sigma} - U_f \sum_{i} n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}.$$
(48)

We can apply a same argument to show a uniqueness of the ground state for U > 0and $U_f > 0$. In order to predict the value of total spin, let us consider the strong-Uand $-U_f$ limit where the system is represented by an antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model. Since we have the same number of sites in A and B sublattices, the ground state should have S = 0. \square

Because we have a finite energy gap for the non-interacting case, we can expect a finite gap for $U_f > 0$. However, there is no proof for this expectation.

It is also straightforward to investigate single-impurity Anderson model, twoimpurity model, or other variants of the Anderson model as a slight modification of *Theorem 2.4.* The two-impurity Anderson model is a simplest non-trivial extension of the single-impurity Anderson model.^{74,75,76,77,78,79,80,81,82} It is quite likely that this model contains competition effects between the local Kondo effect and the intersite (RKKY) interaction. According to the *Theorem 2.2* and the *Corollary*, the interspin interaction is an oscillating function of the distance d between two localized spins since the ground state has S = 0 for even d and S = 1 for odd d (in units of the lattice constant) at half filling (where we assume that the lattice for the conduction electrons have the same number of sites in A and B sublattices).

2.4. Heisenberg model

Since the antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model is obtained as the large-U limit in the Hubbard model, it may be clear that the Heisenberg model has a positive semidefinite matrix for the ground state. Although the uniqueness of the ground state for the Heisenberg model is established,⁵⁷ we discuss the positivity of the coefficient matrix here since we can apply our technique to the Kondo lattice which will be discussed in the next section. Let us consider the following proposition:⁸³

Theorem 2.5 Let us consider the antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model given as

$$H = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j,\tag{49}$$

on a bipartite lattice $|\Lambda|$ with respect to $\{J_{ij} \ge 0\}$. We assume that $|\Lambda|$ is connected with respect to $\{J_{ij}\}$. Then, the ground state has a positive semidefinite coefficient

matrix (after a electron-hole transformation) and is unique.

Proof We write the Hamiltonian by fermions as follows.

$$H = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[\frac{1}{2} (S_i^{\dagger} S_j^{-} + S_i^{-} S_j^{+}) + S_i^z S_j^z \right]$$

$$= \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[\frac{1}{2} (c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\uparrow} + c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\uparrow} c_{j\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow}) + \frac{1}{4} (n_{i\uparrow} - n_{i\downarrow}) (n_{j\uparrow} - n_{j\downarrow}) \right], \quad (50)$$

where $c_{i\sigma}$ $(c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger})$ denote fermion operators of localized electrons and $n_{i\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{i\sigma}$. Since we have always one spin at each site, we impose the constraint $n_{i\uparrow} + n_{i\downarrow} = 1$. Now we make the electron-hole transformation for down spins: $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$, and $c_{j\downarrow} \rightarrow -c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -c_{j\downarrow}$ for $j \in B$. Then the transformed Hamiltonian is written as

$$\tilde{H} = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[-\frac{1}{2} (c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\uparrow} c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow} + c_{j\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\uparrow} c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}) + \frac{1}{4} (n_{i\uparrow} + n_{i\downarrow} - 1) (n_{j\uparrow} + n_{j\downarrow} - 1) \right],$$
(51)

where the constraint is given as $n_{i\uparrow} = n_{i\downarrow}$. We set $Q_i = n_{i\uparrow} - n_{i\downarrow}$. It is easy to see that Q_i commutes with \tilde{H} and Q_j each other:

$$[Q_i, \ddot{H}] = 0, [Q_i, Q_j] = 0 (\forall i, j \in \Lambda).$$

$$(52)$$

Then the total space of configurations is divided into subspaces which are specified by eigenvalues of Q_i . Obviously the subspace given by

$$S_0 \equiv \{\psi(\neq 0) | Q_i \psi = 0(\forall i)\}$$

$$\tag{53}$$

is the physical subspace. In this subspace, eigenfunctions satisfy

$$\ddot{H}\psi = E\psi,\tag{54}$$

$$Q_i \psi = 0. \tag{55}$$

Let us again express the ground-state wave function in a form $\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}$ with real basis states $\{\psi_{\alpha\beta}\}$. According to eqs.(12), (13), and (14), the Schrödinger equation (54) reads

$$EC = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[-\frac{1}{2} (T_{ij}^{\uparrow} C T_{ij}^{\downarrow \dagger} + T_{ji}^{\uparrow} C T_{ji}^{\downarrow \dagger}) + \frac{1}{4} (N_{ij}^{\uparrow} C + C N_{ij}^{\downarrow \dagger}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{4} (N_i^{\uparrow} C N_j^{\downarrow \dagger} + N_j^{\uparrow} C N_i^{\downarrow \dagger}) - \frac{1}{4} (N_i^{\uparrow} C + N_j^{\uparrow} C + C N_i^{\downarrow \dagger} + C N_j^{\downarrow \dagger}) \right],$$
(56)

and the constraint equations are written as

$$N_i^{\uparrow} C = C N_i^{\downarrow}, \tag{57}$$

where matrices are defined by the following:

$$(T_{ij}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{58}$$

$$(N_{ij}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{i\sigma} n_{j\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{59}$$

$$(N_i^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{i\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle.$$
(60)

The up-down symmetry implies $T_{ij}^{\uparrow} = T_{ij}^{\downarrow}$, $N_{ij}^{\uparrow} = N_{ij}^{\downarrow}$ and $N_i^{\uparrow} = N_i^{\downarrow}$. $(N_{ij}^{\sigma})^{\dagger} = N_{ij}^{\sigma}$ and $(N_i^{\sigma})^{\dagger} = N_i^{\sigma}$ are obvious. Then we can assume that *C* is hermitian. From eq.(56), the energy-expectation value is easily calculated as

$$E(C) = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[-\frac{1}{2} Tr(C^{\dagger} T_{ij}^{\dagger} C T_{ij}^{\downarrow \dagger} + C^{\dagger} T_{ji}^{\dagger} C T_{ji}^{\downarrow \dagger}) + \frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{ij}^{\dagger} C + C N_{ij}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{i}^{\dagger} C N_{j}^{\downarrow} + C^{\dagger} N_{j}^{\dagger} C N_{i}^{\downarrow}) - \frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{i}^{\dagger} C + C^{\dagger} N_{j}^{\dagger} C \\ \left. + C N_{i}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger} + C N_{j}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) \right].$$

$$(61)$$

Here we use the constraint equations $N_i^{\uparrow}C = CN_i^{\downarrow}$ to get

$$TrC^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\dagger}CN_{j}^{\downarrow} = TrC^{\dagger}N_{i}^{\dagger}N_{j}^{\uparrow}C = TrC^{\dagger}N_{ij}^{\dagger}C,$$
(62)

and we write the energy E(C) as

$$E(C) = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[-\frac{1}{2} Tr(C^{\dagger} T_{ij}^{\dagger} C T_{ij}^{\downarrow \dagger} + C^{\dagger} T_{ji}^{\dagger} C T_{ji}^{\downarrow \dagger}) + \frac{1}{2} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{ij}^{\dagger} C + C N_{ij}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{i}^{\dagger} C + C^{\dagger} N_{j}^{\dagger} C + C N_{i}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger} + C N_{j}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) \right].$$

$$(63)$$

Therefore one can make use of the Schwarz inequality to obtain

$$E(C) \ge E(P),\tag{64}$$

where P is the positive semidefinite matrix which satisfies $P^2 = C^{\dagger}C = CC^{\dagger}$. Here we must show that the wave function with the coefficient matrix P also belongs to the physical subspace S_0 , which means that $PN_i^{\downarrow} = N_i^{\uparrow}P$ (for all $i \in \Lambda$). This constraint indicates that we have no singly occupied sites in fermion representation which means $\langle n_{i\uparrow}(1-n_{i\downarrow})\rangle_P \equiv \text{Tr}PN_{i\uparrow}P(1-N_{i\downarrow}) = 0$ and $\langle n_{i\downarrow}(1-n_{i\uparrow})\rangle_P \equiv \text{Tr}PN_{i\downarrow}P(1-N_{i\downarrow}) = 0$. According to the Schwarz inequality $TrCN_i^{\uparrow}C^{\dagger}N_i^{\downarrow} \leq TrPN_i^{\uparrow}PN_i^{\downarrow}$, we obtain

$$0 \leq TrPN_{i}^{\uparrow}P(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow}) = TrPN_{i}^{\uparrow}P - TrPN_{i}^{\uparrow}PN_{i}^{\downarrow}$$

$$\leq TrCN_{i}^{\uparrow}C - TrCN_{i}^{\uparrow}CN_{i}^{\downarrow} = TrCN_{i}^{\uparrow}C(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow}) = 0, \qquad (65)$$

where we note that $TrCN_i^{\uparrow}C(1-N_i^{\downarrow}) = TrCN_i^{\uparrow}(1-N_i^{\uparrow})C = 0$ because of $N_i^{\uparrow}C = CN_i^{\downarrow}$ and $(N_i^{\sigma})^2C = N_i^{\sigma}C$ (which follows from $n_{i\sigma}^2\psi = n_{i\sigma}\psi$). Now it is followed that $TrPN_i^{\uparrow}P(1-N_i^{\downarrow}) = 0$. Since we have also $(N_i^{\sigma})^2P = N_i^{\sigma}P$, one gets

$$TrPN_{i}^{\uparrow}P(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow}) = Tr(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow})PN_{i}^{\uparrow}N_{i}^{\uparrow}P(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow}) = ||N_{i}^{\uparrow}P(1-N_{i}^{\downarrow})||^{2} = 0,$$
(66)

where the norm $||\cdot||$ is defined by $||A|| = (TrA^{\dagger}A)^{1/2}$. This implies $N_i^{\uparrow}P(1-N_i^{\downarrow}) = 0$. Similarly we can obtain $(1-N_i^{\uparrow})PN_i^{\downarrow} = 0$. Therefore the constrain equation is followed:

$$N_i^{\uparrow} P = P N_i^{\downarrow}. \tag{67}$$

Now the energy equality E(C) = E(P) has its sense. Following the same arguments as before, the uniqueness of the ground state is proved, i.e. C = P (or C = -P) is a unique solution for the ground-state wave function.

Remarks The above proof consists of three steps: (I) To show the inequality $E(C) \ge E(P)$ for $\psi(C) \in S_0$, (II) To show $\psi(P) \in S_0$, and (III) To show that C = P (or C = -P) is a unique solution of E(C) = E(P). Here we have used the Schwarz inequality to show the step (II).

Thus the semidefinite positivity of the ground state wave function is rather instinsic for the antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model. We should refer to the other method (for example, the Perron-Frobenius theorem) to predict the total spin of the ground state, which we shall discuss in the next Chapter. However, it is easy to see that the ground state has S = 0 if two sublattices A and B have the same number of sites because we clearly have S = 0 in the limit of large $J_{ij} > 0$. Next we comment on a similar theorem for the ferromagnetic Heisenberg model, which is rather trivial since we obviously have a unique ferromagnetic ground state.

Theorem 2.6 Let us consider the ferromagnetic Heisenberg model on a connected lattice Λ :

$$H = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j, \tag{68}$$

where non-zero J_{ij} are negative: $J_{ij} < 0$. Then the ground state has a positive semidefinite coefficient matrix and is unique.

Proof Let us make again a partial electron-hole transformation for the down spin in a fermion representation: $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in \Lambda$. The Hamiltonian is transformed into

$$\tilde{H} = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[\frac{1}{2} (c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\uparrow} c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow} + c_{i\uparrow} c_{j\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger}) + \frac{1}{4} (n_{i\uparrow} + n_{i\downarrow} - 1) (n_{j\uparrow} + n_{j\downarrow} - 1) \right],$$
(69)

where we must impose $n_{i\uparrow} = n_{i\downarrow}$ for wave functions. Now it is obvious that the same argument will conclude the proof since the energy-expectation value is written as

$$E(C) = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \left[\frac{1}{2} Tr(C^{\dagger} T_{ij}^{\dagger} C T_{ij}^{\downarrow \dagger} + C^{\dagger} T_{ji}^{\dagger} C T_{ji}^{\downarrow \dagger}) + \frac{1}{2} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{ij}^{\dagger} C + C N_{ij}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger} N_{i}^{\dagger} C + C^{\dagger} N_{j}^{\dagger} C + C N_{i}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger} + C N_{j}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}) \right],$$

$$(70)$$

and we can derive $E(C) \ge E(P)$. The constraint equations are proved for P in the same way as in *Theorem 2.5.* \square

These theorems for the Heisenberg model may be proved by other method in a more elegant way. Our proof will give a way to consider more complicated models such as the Kondo lattice or the Kondo-Hubbard Hamiltonians, which are going to be discussed in the next sections.

2.5. Kondo lattice Hamiltoninan

Let us turn to the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian which represents interactions between the localized spins and the conduction electrons. The model is written as

$$H = -\sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i} n_{ci\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + J \sum_{i} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \sigma_{i}, \qquad (71)$$

where $c_{i\sigma}$ $(c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger})$ denote annihilation (creation) operators of the conduction electrons and we write $n_{ci\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma}$. The third term shows the Coulomb interactions between the conduction electrons and the last term represents the exchange interactions where \mathbf{S}_i and σ_i denote spin operators of the localized spins and the conduction electrons, respectively. We have localized spins on each site in the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian. We assume repulsive Coulomb interactions U > 0. Note that the Kondo lattice model is usually defined without Coulomb interaction U. Here we include the Coulomb terms in order to show a uniqueness of the ground state. Let us consider a bipartite lattice Λ with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$ and fix the number of electrons to be $|\Lambda|$ (half-filled case), i.e. $\mu = U/2$. We first investigate the antiferromagnetic exchange interaction $J > 0.^{83}$

Theorem 2.7 Let us consider the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian in eq.(71) for U > 0and J > 0 at half filling. We assume that the lattice is bipartite where hopping parameters t_{ij} are nonzero for $i \in A$ and $j \in B$ or $i \in B$ and $j \in A$. The connectivity of the lattice due to t_{ij} is also assumed. Then the ground state is unique and has S = 0.

Proof Following the proof for the Heisenberg model, we use fermions to express the localized spins and write the Hamiltonian in the form,

$$H = -\sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + \sum_{i} \left[\frac{1}{2} J_{\perp} (c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} f_{i\uparrow} + c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\uparrow} f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} f_{i\downarrow}) + \frac{1}{4} J_{z} (n_{ci\uparrow} - n_{ci\downarrow}) (n_{fi\uparrow} - n_{fi\downarrow}) \right]$$

+
$$U \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} - \frac{U}{2} \sum_{i\sigma} n_{ci\sigma}, \qquad (72)$$

where $f_{i\sigma}(f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger})$ denote annihilation (creation) operators of localized spins. $n_{fi\sigma}$ indicate the number operator of localized fermions. We have written the perpendicular-

and z-component of exchange interaction as J_{\perp} and J_z , respectively. Let us assume that $J = J_{\perp} = J_z$. We make the electron-hole transformation for the up spins: $c_{i\uparrow} \rightarrow c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}, c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\uparrow}$ for $i \in A, f_{i\uparrow} \rightarrow -f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}, f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -f_{i\uparrow}$ for $i \in A$ and $c_{i\uparrow} \rightarrow -c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}, c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}$ for $i \in B, f_{i\uparrow} \rightarrow f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}, f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow f_{i\uparrow}$ for $i \in B$ where we have assumed that the lattice is bipartite-divided into two disjoint sets A and B. The spin-down electrons are unaltered, $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ and $f_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow f_{i\downarrow}$. In this transformation the z-component of the total spin is invariant at half filling: $S^z = 0 \rightarrow S^z = 0$. Then H is transformed into

$$\tilde{H} = -\sum_{\langle ij\rangle\sigma} t_{ij}c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{j\sigma} - U\sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow}n_{ci\downarrow} + \frac{U}{2}\sum_{i\sigma} n_{ci\sigma} + \sum_{i} [-\frac{1}{2}J_{\perp}(c_{i\uparrow}c_{i\downarrow}f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} + c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}f_{i\uparrow}f_{i\downarrow}) + \frac{1}{4}J_{z}(1 - n_{ci\uparrow} - n_{ci\downarrow})(1 - n_{fi\uparrow} - n_{fi\downarrow})].$$
(73)

We work in the $S^z=0$ subspace since \mathbf{S}^2 and S^z are conserved and every energy eigenvalue has a corresponding eigenfunction in this subspace. For \tilde{H} the constraint should read $n_{fi\uparrow} = n_{fi\downarrow}$. We set $Q_i \equiv n_{fi\uparrow} - n_{fi\downarrow}$. It is easy to see that Q_i commutes with \tilde{H} and Q_j (for any j):

$$[Q_i, \tilde{H}] = 0; [Q_i, Q_j] = 0(\forall i, j).$$
(74)

Therefore the total space is divided into disjoint subspaces which are specified by eigenvalues of Q_i . The physical space is given by $S_0 = \{\psi(\neq 0) | Q_i \psi = 0(\forall i)\}.$

The Schrödinger equation for C is written in the form,

$$EC = CH_0^{\downarrow} + H_0^{\uparrow}C - J_{\perp}\sum_i \frac{1}{2}(M_{fci}^{\uparrow}CM_{cfi}^{\downarrow} + M_{cfi}^{\uparrow}CM_{fci}^{\downarrow})$$

+ $J_z\sum_i [\frac{1}{4}(N_{cfi}^{\uparrow}C + CN_{cfi}^{\downarrow}) - \frac{1}{4}(CN_{fi}^{\downarrow} + N_{fi}^{\uparrow}C) - \frac{1}{4}(CN_{ci}^{\downarrow} + N_{ci}^{\uparrow}C)$
+ $\frac{1}{4}(N_{ci}^{\uparrow}CN_{fi}^{\downarrow} + N_{fi}^{\uparrow}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow})] - U\sum_i N_{ci}^{\uparrow}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}$
+ $\frac{U}{2}\sum_i (CN_{ci}^{\downarrow} + N_{ci}^{\uparrow}C).$ (75)

The matrices are defined by the following,

$$(H_0^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | -\sum_{\langle ij \rangle} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{76}$$

$$(M_{cfi}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \qquad (77)$$

$$(M_{fci}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{78}$$

$$(N_{cfi}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{ci\sigma} n_{fi\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{79}$$

$$(N_{ci}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{ci\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle, \tag{80}$$

$$(N_{fi}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{fi\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle.$$
(81)

Please note that these matrices are real ones. From the definition, we have

$$(N_{cfi}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \sum_{\beta} \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | n_{ci\sigma} | \psi_{\beta}^{\sigma} \rangle \langle \psi_{\beta}^{\sigma} | n_{fi\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} \rangle = (N_{ci}^{\sigma} N_{fi}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'}.$$
 (82)

We have the up-down symmetry:

$$N_{ci}^{\sigma} = N_{ci}^{-\sigma}, \ N_{fi}^{\sigma} = N_{fi}^{-\sigma}, \ H_0^{\sigma} = H_0^{-\sigma} \ and \ M_{fci}^{\sigma} = M_{fci}^{-\sigma}.$$
 (83)

It is easily followed from eqs(3), (4), and (5) that the constraint equations $Q_i\psi = 0$ is written as

$$N_{fi}^{\uparrow}C = CN_{fi}^{\downarrow}.$$
(84)

The energy E(C) is given by

$$E(C) = Tr(C^{\dagger}H_{0}^{\dagger}C + CH_{0}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) - J_{\perp}\sum_{i}\frac{1}{2}Tr(M_{fci}^{\dagger}CM_{cfi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + M_{cfi}^{\dagger}CM_{fci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) + J_{z}\sum_{i}[\frac{1}{4}Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{cfi}^{\dagger}C + CN_{cfi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{4}Tr(CN_{fi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + C^{\dagger}N_{fi}^{\dagger}C) - \frac{1}{4}Tr(CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + C^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\dagger}C) + \frac{1}{4}Tr(N_{ci}^{\dagger}CN_{fi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + N_{fi}^{\dagger}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger})] - U\sum_{i}Tr(N_{ci}^{\dagger}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) + \frac{U}{2}\sum_{i}Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\dagger}C + CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}).$$
(85)

The identity below is useful in the following discussion, 86

$$J_{z}Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\dagger}CN_{fi}^{\downarrow} + C^{\dagger}N_{fi}^{\dagger}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}) = -J_{z}\frac{1}{z}TrC^{\dagger}(zN_{ci}^{\dagger} - N_{fi}^{\dagger})C(zN_{ci}^{\downarrow} - N_{fi}^{\downarrow}) + zJ_{z}TrC^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\dagger}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow} + \frac{1}{z}J_{z}TrC^{\dagger}N_{fi}^{\dagger}CN_{fi}^{\downarrow} = -J_{z}\frac{1}{z}TrC^{\dagger}(zN_{ci}^{\dagger} - N_{fi}^{\dagger})C(zN_{ci}^{\downarrow} - N_{fi}^{\downarrow}) + zJ_{z}TrC^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\dagger}CN_{ci}^{\downarrow} + \frac{1}{2z}J_{z}Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{fi}^{\dagger}C + CN_{fi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}),$$
(86)

where z is a positive real number z > 0 and we have used the relation in eq.(84) to derive the second equality. Then the energy E(C) is written as

$$\begin{split} E(C) &= Tr(C^{\dagger}H_{0}^{\dagger}C + CH_{0}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) - J_{\perp} \sum_{i} \frac{1}{2} Tr(M_{fci}^{\dagger}CM_{cfi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + M_{cfi}^{\dagger}CM_{fci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) \\ &+ J_{z} \sum_{i} \left[\frac{1}{4} Tr(C^{\dagger}N_{cfi}^{\uparrow}C + CN_{cfi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger}) - \frac{1}{4} Tr(CN_{fi}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + C^{\dagger}N_{fi}^{\uparrow}C) \\ &- \frac{1}{4} Tr(CN_{ci}^{\downarrow}C^{\dagger} + C^{\dagger}N_{ci}^{\uparrow}C)\right] \end{split}$$

$$+ \sum_{i} \left[-\frac{1}{4z} J_{z} Tr C^{\dagger} (z N_{ci}^{\dagger} - N_{fi}^{\dagger}) C(z N_{ci}^{\downarrow} - N_{fi}^{\downarrow}) \right]$$

+
$$\frac{1}{4} z J_{z} Tr C^{\dagger} N_{ci}^{\dagger} C N_{ci}^{\downarrow} + \frac{1}{8z} J_{z} Tr (C^{\dagger} N_{fi}^{\dagger} C + C N_{fi}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger})],$$

-
$$U \sum_{i} Tr C^{\dagger} N_{ci}^{\dagger} C N_{ci}^{\downarrow} + \frac{U}{2} \sum_{i} Tr (C^{\dagger} N_{ci}^{\dagger} C + C N_{ci}^{\downarrow} C^{\dagger}).$$
(87)

Here we can again set that C is hermitian: $C = C^{\dagger}$ due to the discussion in **2.1**. Then we obtain the inequality $E(C) \ge E(P)$ for J > 0 and U > zJ/4. Since z is an arbitrary positive real number, we can choose z so that U > zJ/4 holds for any positive U. Therefore the inequality $E(C) \ge E(P)$ is followed for every U > 0. Since we have assumed that C is the coefficient matrix of the ground state, i.e. $\psi(C)$ is the ground state, we obtain E(C) = E(P). This indicates that there is a state with C = P (or C = -P) among the ground states.

Here we should show that $\psi(P)$ belongs to the space $S_0: \psi(P) \in S_0$. In order to show this, we shall prove

$$N_{fi}^{\uparrow} P = P N_{fi}^{\downarrow},\tag{88}$$

which is easily shown by the method in the proceeding section for the Heisenberg model. Thus the equality E(C) = E(P) has its sense.

The uniqueness of the ground state is followed similarly, which means that one can show $\operatorname{Ker}(P-C) = \{v(\neq 0) \in X^{\downarrow} | (P-C)v = 0\} = X^{\downarrow}$. Because the energy is continuous with respect to parameters involved in the Hamiltonian, there is no level crossing with respect to J > 0. In the large-U limit, H is mapped to a spin-1/2 antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model where we have the same number of sites in two sublattices. Hence the ground state has S = 0. \Box

The method above is also relevant for the Kondo lattice with the ferromagnetic exchange coupling, which is shown as a separate statement.

Theorem 2.8 We consider the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian for U > 0 and J < 0 at half filling with the same assumptions in *Theorem 2.7*. Then the ground state is unique and has S = ||A| - |B|| (where |A| and |B| denote the number of sites in A and B sublattices, respectively).

Proof For J < 0, the electron-hole transformation for the down spins are done in the following way: $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$, $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$, $f_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$, $f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow f_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in A$, and $c_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow -c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$, $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -c_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in B$, $f_{i\downarrow} \rightarrow -f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}$, $f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} \rightarrow -f_{i\downarrow}$ for $i \in B$. In order to derive the inequality $E(C) \geq E(P)$, we use the identity in eq.(86) with replacing z by -z. The total spin of the ground state is easily followed from the formula given by Lieb and Mattis⁵⁷ since the Hamiltonian is mapped onto a spin-1 antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model in the limit of large |J|. \square

Remarks Let us comment on the limit of large |J| (J < 0) for the Kondo lattice. Obviously we have local triplets at every site in the limit $|J| = \infty$. Through the virtual states with doubly occupied sites which have higher energies of the order of $|{\cal J}|,$ the localized spins are exchanged and the degeneracy is lifted. Let us consider the following process

$$\begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \downarrow \\ \uparrow & \downarrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \downarrow \\ & \downarrow \uparrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \downarrow \\ \downarrow & \uparrow \end{pmatrix},$$
 (89)

where the symbol (\cdot) indicates the spin configuration of the f and conduction electrons at the sites i and j:

$$\begin{pmatrix} f_i & f_j \\ s_i & s_j \end{pmatrix} \quad (f_i, s_i = |0\rangle, |\uparrow\rangle, |\downarrow\rangle, |\downarrow\uparrow\rangle).$$
(90)

In the process above, the local state $|1,1\rangle_i|1,-1\rangle_j$ is transformed to $|1,0\rangle_i|1,0\rangle_j$ where $|\ell = 1, m\rangle_i$ indicates a local triplet at site *i* with $s_i^z = m$. Similarly other interactions are included and thus the effective Hamiltonian is given by a spin-1 Heisenberg model.

We can generalize the Kondo lattice by including the intersite RKKY interactions between localized spins. Let us investigate the Hamiltonian given by

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + J \sum_{i} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \sigma_{i} + \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{j}.$$
(91)

If the lattice is bipartite with respect to $\{J_{ij}\}$, the uniqueness of the ground state is proved in a same manner:

Theorem 2.9 We investigate the Kondo lattice in eq.(91) at half filling. Let us assume that the lattice Λ is bipartite and connected with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$. We further assume that Λ is bipartite with respect to $\{J_{ij}\}$ and $J_{ij} \geq 0$. Then the coefficient matrix of the ground state is positive semidefinite for U > 0 and $J \neq 0$ at half filling (after a partial electron-hole transformation). Thus the ground state is unique.

This statement indicates that the ground state is continuous with respect to J_{ij} as long as J_{ij} are antiferromagnetic. Probably we don't need to say that we can extend *Theorem 2.7-2.9* to the Hamiltonian where U and J are site dependent.

2.6. The Kondo-Hubbard model

Let us consider generalized models which may be called the Kondo-Hubbard model including the Kondo lattice and the two-impurity Kondo model as special cases. The Hamiltonian is written as

$$H = -\sum_{ij\in\Lambda,\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\in\Lambda} n_{ci\sigma} + U \sum_{i\in\Lambda} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + J \sum_{i\in\Lambda_f} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \sigma_i$$

+
$$\sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j, \qquad (92)$$

where Λ denotes a lattice of the conduction electrons and Λ_f is a set of sites on which the localized spins are located. $n_{ci\sigma}$ indicate number operators: $n_{ci\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma}$. We investigate the case where Λ_f is a subset of Λ : $\Lambda_f \subset \Lambda$. Let us assume that Λ is bipartite and divided into two sublattices Λ and B. We denote the numbers of sites in Λ and B sublattices of Λ as N_A and N_B , and those in Λ_f as L_A and L_B , respectively: $N_A + N_B = |\Lambda|$ and $L_A + L_B = |\Lambda_f|$ ($N_A \ge L_A$, $N_B \ge L_B$). For the Kondo lattice, we have $N_A = L_A$ and $N_B = L_B$. A similar argument in the section **2.5** proves the uniqueness of the ground state.

Theorem 2.10 Let us consider the Kondo-Hubbard model on a connected and bipartite lattice in eq.(92) at half filling. We assume that the lattice is bipartite with respect to $\{J_{ij} \ge 0\}$. Then the ground state is unique for U > 0 and $J \ne 0$ (apart from a trivial degeneracy with respect to S^z for J < 0). The total spin is given by

$$S = |N_A - N_B - L_A + L_B|/2 \quad \text{for} \quad J > 0,$$

$$S = |N_A - N_B + L_A - L_B|/2 \quad \text{for} \quad J < 0.$$

Since a proof of the uniqueness is very similar to that for the Kondo lattice, we don't repeat it here. The total spin of the ground state for J > 0 is given by the Lemma 2.3 for the spin-1/2 Heisenberg model. For the ferromagnetic exchange interaction J < 0, one can determine S employing the Perron-Frobenius theorem, which will be discussed in the Chapter **3**. For the Kondo lattice, S = 0 for J > 0 and $S = |N_A - N_B|$ for J < 0.

As a corollary, we show a statement about the two-impurity Kondo model, for which there has been a debate about a singular fixed point found in the numerical renormalization group method.⁷⁷ The Hamiltonian is written in the form:

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + J \sum_{j=1,2} \mathbf{S}_{j} \cdot \sigma_{j} + J_{RK} \mathbf{S}_{1} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{2}.$$
(93)

Corollary Let us assume that the lattice is bipartite and connected and $J_{RK} \ge 0$ for $1 \in A$ and $2 \in B$ (or $1 \in B$ and $2 \in A$) or $J_{RK} \le 0$ for $1, 2 \in A$ (or $1, 2 \in B$). Then the ground state of the two-impurity Kondo model at half filling for U > 0and $J \ne 0$ is unique and continuous with respect to $J(\ne 0)$. Thus the ground state has no singularity as a function of $J(\ne 0)$ on a finite lattice.

This is a direct consequence of *Theorem 2.10* and consistent with the results by Monte Carlo simulations,⁷⁸ numerical renormalization group calculations⁷⁹ and diagonalizations.⁸⁰ We can expect a sharp crossover between the on-site Kondo region and the RKKY region; in the former case we have a local singlet at each site and in the latter case localized spins are in a collective state.

As an example of the Theorem, we point out that the ferromagnetism of the poly(*m*-phenylenecarbene) is explained by the Kondo-Hubbard model with ferromagnetic exchange term $J < 0.^{85,87}$ This organic material contains carbon sites called carbene, where a non-bonding localized electron couples with a π electron on the bridge through the Hund's coupling.⁸⁷

2.7. Inequalities for correlation functions

The spin-reflection positivity for the half-filled band with the repulsive Coulomb interactions is closely related with antiferromagnetic correlations between the conduction electrons (and the localized spins). If C is positive definite, we can show

$$TrC^{\dagger}MCM^{\dagger} > 0, \tag{94}$$

for a square matrix M. This inequality is easily derived as follows. Let ϵ_{α} and $|\alpha\rangle$ be eigenvalues and corresponding eigenvectors : $C|\alpha\rangle = \epsilon_{\alpha}|\alpha\rangle$. Then $TrC^{\dagger}MCM^{\dagger} = \sum_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta}|\langle\alpha|M|\beta\rangle|^{2} > 0$.

By virtue of the property in eq.(94), one can derive inequalities for correlation functions. If we take $M^{\sigma}_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi^{\sigma}_{\alpha} | n_{ci\sigma} | \psi^{\sigma}_{\alpha'} \rangle$, we obtain a trivial inequality:

$$TrC^{\dagger}M^{\uparrow}CM^{\downarrow\dagger} = \langle n_{ci\uparrow}n_{ci\downarrow} \rangle_{\tilde{H}} = \langle n_{ci\uparrow}(1 - n_{ci\downarrow}) \rangle_{H} > 0,$$
(95)

where $\langle \cdot \rangle_H$ and $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\tilde{H}}$ denote the expectation values in the original and transformed space, respectively. For the choice $M^{\sigma}_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi^{\sigma}_{\alpha} | n_{ci\sigma} - n_{cj\sigma} | \psi^{\sigma}_{\alpha'} \rangle$, we have $0 < \langle (n_{ci\uparrow} - n_{cj\uparrow})(n_{ci\downarrow} - n_{cj\downarrow}) \rangle_{\tilde{H}} = -\langle (n_{ci\uparrow} - n_{cj\uparrow})(n_{ci\downarrow} - n_{cj\downarrow}) \rangle_H$, i.e.

$$\langle n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + n_{cj\uparrow} n_{cj\downarrow} \rangle_H < \langle n_{ci\uparrow} n_{cj\downarrow} + n_{ci\downarrow} n_{cj\uparrow} \rangle_H \quad (i \neq j).$$

$$(96)$$

Similarly we can show $-1/4 < \langle S_i^z S_j^z \rangle_H < 1/4$ for $S_i^z = n_{fi\uparrow} - n_{fi\downarrow}$ or $n_{ci\uparrow} - n_{ci\downarrow}$.

We can obtain non-trivial inequalities when we choose $M^{\sigma} = \langle c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} \rangle$, $\langle f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{j\sigma} \rangle$ or $\langle c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma} \rangle$, which corresponds to consider correlation functions defined by

$$S_{ff}(i,j) = \langle S_i^+ S_j^- \rangle, \tag{97}$$

$$S_{cc}(i,j) = \langle \sigma_i^+ \sigma_j^- \rangle, \tag{98}$$

and

$$S_{fc}(i) = \langle S_i^+ \sigma_i^- \rangle, \tag{99}$$

where spin operators are $S_i^+ = f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} f_{i\downarrow}, \sigma_i^+ = c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}, S_i^- = (S_i^+)^{\dagger}$ and $\sigma_i^- = (\sigma_i^+)^{\dagger}$. For the Hubbard model with U > 0 at half filling, we can show by making the

For the Hubbard model with U > 0 at half filling, we can show by making the electron-hole transformation for $i \in A$ and $j \in B$,

$$S_{cc}(i,j) = \langle c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\uparrow} \rangle_{H} = -\langle c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow} c_{j\uparrow} \rangle_{\tilde{H}}$$

$$= -TrC^{\dagger} K_{ij}^{\dagger} C(K_{ij}^{\downarrow})^{\dagger} < 0,$$
(100)

where the second equality is due to the electron-hole transformation and we have defined

$$(K_{ij}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\sigma} | c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} | \psi_{\alpha'}^{\sigma} \rangle.$$
(101)

Similarly we obtain

$$S_{cc}(i,j) > 0 \quad for \quad i,j \in A \quad or \quad i,j \in B.$$

$$(102)$$

For the Kondo lattice at half filling, it is easy to prove the following.⁸⁴

$$S_{ff}(i,j) < 0; \ i \in A, j \in B,$$
 (103)

$$S_{cc}(i,j) < 0; \quad i \in A, j \in B, \tag{104}$$

$$S_{ff}(i,j) > 0; \ i \in A, j \in A,$$
 (105)

$$S_{cc}(i,j) > 0; \ i \in A, j \in A.$$
 (106)

For the on-site c-f correlations, we can show

$$S_{fc}(i) < 0 \ for \ J > 0,$$
 (107)

$$S_{fc}(i) > 0 \quad for \quad J < 0.$$
 (108)

Note that we have chosen the different signs for f electrons in the electron-hole transformation for J < 0. The equations above indicates that the nearest-neighbor spins are in an antiferromagnetic order and that the RKKY interactions are oscillating functions of the distance between two localized spins.

We can obtain stronger inequalities for spin-correlation functions.⁸⁸ Let us note

$$\langle (1 - xc_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j\uparrow})(1 - xc_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{j\downarrow}) \rangle_{\tilde{H}} = TrC^{\dagger}L_{ij}^{\dagger}CL_{ij}^{\downarrow\dagger} > 0,$$
(109)

for real x and $(L_{ij}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'} = \delta_{\alpha\alpha'} - x(K_{ij}^{\sigma})_{\alpha\alpha'}$. For $i \in A$ and $j \in B$, the above inequality indicates the following after the electron-hole transformation for downspin electrons,

$$1 - x \langle c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\uparrow} + c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow} \rangle_H - x^2 l \langle \sigma_i^{+} \sigma_j^{-} \rangle_H > 0.$$
(110)

Since this holds for any real x, we have the correlation inequality

$$\langle \sigma_i^+ \sigma_j^- \rangle_H < -\frac{1}{4} (\langle c_{i\uparrow}^\dagger c_{j\uparrow} + c_{j\downarrow}^\dagger c_{i\downarrow} \rangle_H)^2 = -(\langle c_{i\uparrow}^\dagger c_{j\uparrow} \rangle_H)^2,$$
(111)

for U > 0. Note that for the non-interacting Hubbard model, the equality holds:

$$\langle \sigma_i^+ \sigma_j^- \rangle_H = -\frac{1}{4} (\langle c_{i\uparrow}^\dagger c_{j\uparrow} + c_{j\downarrow}^\dagger c_{i\downarrow} \rangle_H)^2 \quad (U=0).$$
(112)

The inequality in eq.(111) is stronger than eq.(104). For $i, j \in A$ or $i, j \in B$, we have

$$\langle \sigma_i^+ \sigma_j^- \rangle_H > \frac{1}{4} (\langle c_{i\uparrow}^\dagger c_{j\uparrow} - c_{j\downarrow}^\dagger c_{i\downarrow} \rangle_H)^2, \qquad (113)$$

which is, however, equivalent to eq.(102) because of the up-down symmetry. A family of the correlation inequalities is followed straightforwardly according to the reflection positivity in the spin space.

2.8. η -spin operators

In this section let us summarize about η -spin operators which were considered deeply by Yang and Zhang.^{89,90} The η -spin operators are defined by

$$\eta^{\dagger} = \sum_{j} \epsilon_{j} c_{j\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow}^{\dagger} \equiv J^{+}, \qquad (114)$$

$$\eta = \sum_{j} \epsilon_{j} c_{j\downarrow} c_{j\uparrow} \equiv J^{-}, \qquad (115)$$

$$J^{z} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j} (c^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow} c_{j\uparrow} + c^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow} - 1), \qquad (116)$$

where ϵ_j is given by $\epsilon_j = 1$ if $j \in A$ and $\epsilon_j = -1$ if $j \in B$. The η -spin operators are obtained from the usual spin operators by the partial electron-hole transformation. We have assumed that the lattice is divided into two subsets A and B. The commutation relations are given as

$$[J^+, J^-] = 2J^z, (117)$$

$$[J^+, J^z] = -J^+; \quad [J^-, J^z] = J^-.$$
(118)

In this section, let us consider the Hubbard model:

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{i\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}.$$
 (119)

One can obtain easily

$$[H, J^+] = (U - 2\mu)J^+, \qquad (120)$$

$$[H, J^{-}] = -(U - 2\mu)J^{-}, \qquad (121)$$

$$[H, J^{z}] = [H, \mathbf{J}^{2}] = 0, \qquad (122)$$

where $\mathbf{J}^2 = (1/2)(J^+J^- + J^-J^+) + (J^z)^2$. Thus the Hubbard model has two SU(2) symmetries, which means the true SU(2) symmetry and the η -spin SU(2) symmetry. We can diagonalize \mathbf{S}^2 , S^z , \mathbf{J}^2 , J^z and H simultaneously. Since

$$S^{z} + J^{z} = \sum_{i} (c^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow}c_{i\uparrow} - 1) = integer, \qquad (123)$$

the Hamiltonian has $SO(4) = SU(2) \otimes SU(2)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry. Let us denote the magnitude of the total η -spin as J. A pair of the total spins (S, J) is transformed to (J, S) by the partial electron-hole trnsformation. J is related to the existence of superconductivity, while S is related to the magnetism of the system. The η -operators are sometimes called pseudospin operators.

Let us first investigate the repulsive U > 0 case. It can be considered that in one dimension the ground state of the Bethe ansatz solution¹³ has the lowest value of the η -spin for the repulsive Hubbard model.⁹² We may expect that the ground state is in

the subspace of lowest weight of η -spin even for two or three dimensions. Let N_e be the number of electrons. The z-component of the total η -spin has $J^z = \frac{1}{2}(N_e - |\Lambda|)$. Thus we have $J \ge |N_e - |\Lambda||/2$. We can show that J = 0 for the half-filled band because of the positive definiteness of the ground state.

Theorem 2.11 We consider the Hubbard model on a bipartite and connected lattice at half filling. Then the ground state has J = 0 for U > 0.

Proof By the electron-hole transformation for the up-spin electrons, the Hamiltonian is mapped to the negative-U Hubbard model with an even number of electrons. The ground state of the transformed Hamiltonian is unique and has S = 0, which indicates that we have J = 0 in the original system. \square

For the negative-U Coulomb interaction, the ground state can be a superconducting state with enhanced on-site pairing correlations. Yang considered a variational function given as

$$\psi_{\eta} = A(\eta^{\dagger})^{N_e/2} |0\rangle, \qquad (124)$$

where A is a normalization constant and N_e is the number of electrons. He called ψ_η the η -paring state. It is easy to see that ψ_η is an eigenstate of the Hamiltonian:

$$H\psi_{\eta} = N_e (U/2 - \mu)\psi_{\eta}. \tag{125}$$

Here let us consider a question whether the η -paring state can be a ground state or not.

Theorem 2.12 Let us consider the negative-*U* Hubbard model on a bipartite and connected lattice. We assume that the number of electrons N_e is even and $N_e \leq |\Lambda|$. Then the η -pairing state ψ_{η} is not a ground state.

Proof By the electron-hole transformation for the up spins, the Hamiltonian is transformed to the positive-U Hubbard model at half filling. In the new system one has $S^z = (|\Lambda| - N_e)/2$, while one has $S^z = 0$ in the original system. In the subspace with $S^z = (|\Lambda| - N_e)/2$, the lowest-energy state is unique and the total spin is given by Lemma 2.3 following an argument of Lieb and Mattis:⁵⁷

$$S = Max\{(|\Lambda| - N_e)/2, ||A| - |B||/2\},$$
(126)

where $Max\{X, Y\}$ indicates larger one in X and Y. Hence in the original system the total spin of η -operators is given by

$$J = Max\{(|\Lambda| - N_e)/2, ||A| - |B||/2\}.$$
(127)

On the other hand, it is followed from direct calculations that the η -paring state ψ_{η} has $J = |\Lambda|/2$,⁸⁹ or

$$\mathbf{J}^{2}\psi_{\eta} = \frac{|\Lambda|}{2} (\frac{|\Lambda|}{2} + 1)\psi_{\eta}.$$
(128)

Therefore the total η -spin of ψ_{η} is different from that of the true ground state. ψ_{η} is orthogonal to the ground state. \square

From the proof of this theorem, we can say the following.

Corollary For the negative-U Huabbrd model on a bipartite and connected lattice for an even number of electrons, if

$$||\Lambda| - N_e| < ||A| - |B||, \tag{129}$$

then there is off-diagonal long-range order (ODLRO).⁹¹

Proof This is a direct consequence of the proof of *Theorem 2.12* and the next theorem by Yang and Zhang.⁹⁰

Theorem 2.13 For any state ψ for which $J^2 - (J^z)^2 = O(|\Lambda|)$, there is ODLRO.

We should define ODLRO before a proof of *Theorem 2.13*. Let us define the twoparticle density matrix given as: 91,93

$$\Gamma(r_1'r_2'|r_1r_2) = \langle \psi | a_{r_1'} a_{r_2} a_{r_3}^{\dagger} a_{r_1}^{\dagger} | \psi \rangle, \qquad (130)$$

for a wave function ψ , where a_r are operators for electrons. The coordinate numbers r_i may include spins. If there is a long-range order for ψ , the two-particle density matrix may have large values, for instance, if r_1 is close to r_2 and at the same time r'_1 is also close to r'_2 . This type of correlation was called an off-diagonal long-range order (ODLRO) by Yang. Here we define ODLRO in the following way.

Definition We define three matrices from the two-partice density matrix Γ :

$$X_{ij} = \Gamma(i\sigma_i, j\sigma_j | i\sigma'_i, j\sigma'_j), \tag{131}$$

$$Y_{ij} = \Gamma(i\sigma_i, j\sigma_j | j\sigma'_j, i\sigma'_i), \tag{132}$$

$$Z_{ij} = \Gamma(i\sigma_i, i\sigma'_i | j\sigma_j, j\sigma'_j).$$
(133)

If one of matrices X, Y and Z has an eigenvalue of the order of the system size $|\Lambda|$, we say that ψ has ODLRO.

Proof of Theorem 2.13 Let us define the matrix Z as

$$Z_{ij} = \langle \psi | c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{j\downarrow} c_{j\uparrow} | \psi \rangle.$$
(134)

Let λ_2 be the largest eigenvalue of Z. It is clear from the variational principle that

$$\lambda_2 \ge (v, Zv),\tag{135}$$

for any normalized vector v where (,) indicates an inner product. Let us take $v=(v_i)$ as $v_i=\epsilon_i/|\Lambda|^{1/2}.$ Then

$$\lambda_{2} \geq \langle \psi | \eta^{\dagger} \eta | \psi \rangle / |\Lambda|$$

$$= \langle \psi | J^{+} J^{-} | \psi \rangle / |\Lambda| = (J^{2} - (J^{z})^{2} + J + J^{z}) / |\Lambda|$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\Lambda|} (J^{2} - (J^{z})^{2}) + O(1) = O(|\Lambda|) \geq 0.$$
(136)

Hence ψ has ODLRO from the definition. \square

The η -paring state has ODLRO because $J = |\Lambda|/2$ and $J^z = ||\Lambda| - N_e|/2$. For the square lattice with |A| = |B|, ODLRO is not proved by this method since $J = J^z = ||\Lambda| - N_e|/2$.⁹⁴ Note that this does not imply an absence of ODLRO.

3. The Perron-Frobenius theorem in Linear algebra

3.1. Perron-Frobenius theorem: Irreducible case

The Perron-Frobenius theorem concerns real matrices with non-positive (or nonnegative) elements.⁹⁸ Such matrices have important applications in the theory of correlated electrons as well as in the theory of probability and economics.⁹⁹ First, Perron proved a theorem on the spectra of positive matrices. Second, Frobenius generalized Perron's theorem to irreducible non-negative matrices, where a positive matrix is a special case of an irreducible non-negative matrix. Let us begin with the definitions of a reducible matrix and an irreducible matrix.

Definition A square matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, n; j = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ is called reducible if there is a permutation which puts it into the form

$$\left[\begin{array}{cc} B & 0\\ C & D \end{array}\right] \tag{137}$$

where B and D are square matrices. Otherwise A is called irreducible.

A permutation of a square matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ means a permutation of the rows of A combined with the same permutation of the columns. Let us suppose that $A = (a_{ij})$ corresponds to a linear operator in an n-dimensional vector space with the bases e_1, \dots, e_n . A permutation of A means a renumbering of the basis vectors: a new basis system is given by $e'_1 = e_{\sigma(1)}, e'_2 = e_{\sigma(2)}, \dots, e'_n = e_{\sigma(n)}$, where $(\sigma(1), \dots, \sigma(n))$ is a permutation of indices $1, 2, \dots, n$. Let $B = (b_{ij})$ and $C = (c_{ij})$ be real rectangular matrices of the same dimensions $m \times n$. We write

$$B \ge C \tag{138}$$

if and ony if

$$b_{ij} \ge c_{ij} (i = 1, \cdots, m; j = 1, \cdots, n).$$
 (139)

We will write

$$B > C \tag{140}$$

if the equality sign can be omitted in all the inequalities.

Definition A rectangular matrix A with real elements $A = (a_{ij})$ is called nonnegative $(A \ge 0)$ or positive (A > 0) if all the elements of A are non-negative $(a_{ij} \ge 0)$ or positive $(a_{ij} > 0)$.

Let $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n$ be eigenvalues of A and we define

$$\rho(A) = Max\{|\lambda_1|, \cdots, |\lambda_n|\}.$$
(141)

Now let us investigate the spectral properties of irreducible non-negative matrices.

Theorem 3.1 (Frobenius) Let $A = (a_{ij})$ $(i, j = 1, \dots, n)$ be an irreducible nonnegative square matrix. Then

(a) $\rho(A) > 0$ and $r = \rho(A)$ is an eigenvalue of A. To the eigenvalue r there corresponds an eigenvector **x** with positive coordinates:

$$A\mathbf{x} = r\mathbf{x}, \quad \mathbf{x} > 0, \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n.$$

(b) If $A \ge B \ge 0$, then for any eigenvalue β of B we have

$$r = \rho(A) \ge |\beta|. \tag{143}$$

If B has eigenvalue β such that $r = |\beta|$, then A = B. (c) $r = \rho(A)$ is a simple eigenvalue, i.e. r is a simple root of the secular equation det(xI - A) = 0, where I is a unit matrix.

In the following we call $r = \rho(A)$ the Frobenius eigenvalue of A. If we multiply A by (-1), we can make all the coordinates negative and we can discuss the lowest eigenvalue. The diagonal elements are not important in an application to the Hamiltonian H since we can add a constant matrix cI to H (where c is a real constant). We will show a proof of *Theorem 3.1* in the next section. As a special case, the Perron's theorem is derived where the matrix A is positive (A > 0). It is convention that we call *Theorem 3.1* the Perron-Frobenius theorem. We present some important porperties of the Frobenius eigenvalue below.

Theorem 3.2 Let A be an irreducible non-negative square matrix. Let us assume that $\alpha \in \mathbf{R}, x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \alpha \ge 0, \mathbf{x} \ge 0$, and $\mathbf{x} \ne 0$. If $A\mathbf{x} = \alpha \mathbf{x}$, then $\alpha = \rho(A)$ and $\mathbf{x} > 0$.

Theorem 3.3 For an irreducible non-negative square $n \times n$ matrix A and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n$ $(\mathbf{x} \ge 0, \mathbf{x} \ne 0)$, we set $A\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{y}$. We define

$$\alpha_A(\mathbf{x}) = Min\{\frac{y_i}{x_i}\}, \quad \beta_A(\mathbf{x}) = Max\{\frac{y_i}{x_i}\}, \quad (144)$$

where we exclude the values of *i* for which $x_i = 0$. Then

$$\alpha_A(\mathbf{x}) \le \rho(A) \le \beta_A(\mathbf{x}). \tag{145}$$

If $\alpha_A(\mathbf{x}) < \rho(A) < \beta_A(\mathbf{x})$, then

$$\alpha_A(\mathbf{x}) < \rho(A) < \beta_A(\mathbf{x}). \tag{146}$$

Theorem 3.4 For an irreducible non-negative square $n \times n$ matrix A, we let B = 1 + A. Let

$$\mathbf{a}_j = B^j \mathbf{a} \quad (j = 1, 2, \cdots), \tag{147}$$

for $\mathbf{a} > 0$, $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{R}^n$. Then we have

$$\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_1) \le \alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_2) \le \cdots, \tag{148}$$

$$\beta_B(\mathbf{a}_1) \ge \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_2) \ge \cdots, \tag{149}$$

and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j) = \lim_{j \to \infty} \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j) = 1 + \rho(A).$$
(150)

 $(\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j) \text{ and } \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j) \text{ are defined in Theorem 3.3.})$

These theorems tells us a method to obtain the maximal eigenvalue and a corresponding eigenvector with positive coordinates for an irreducible non-negative square matrix. Let us show several examples.

Example 1 Let H to be

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(151)

which is the Hamiltonian for a fermion on a 4-site lattice. Let A = -H. We set $a_1 = (1, 1, 1, 1)^t$. Then $a_2 = Aa_1 = (2, 2, 2, 2)^t$ and we have $\alpha_A(a_1) = \beta_A(a_1) = 2$, i.e. r = 2. Hence the lowest eigenvalue of H is -2.

Example 2 A second example is less trivial, which is given by

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & U & 0 \\ -1 & -1 & 0 & U \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (152)

This is the Hamiltonian for the 2-site and 2-electron model where basis states are given as $\psi_1 = -c_{1\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{2\downarrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$, $\psi_2 = c_{1\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{2\uparrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$, $\psi_3 = c_{1\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{1\uparrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$, and $\psi_4 = c_{2\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{2\uparrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$. For example, we set U = 2 and define A = -H + 2I. Let us start from a vector $a_1 = (1, 1, 1, 1)^t$. Then one can easily obtain (we normalize vectors in which the last component equals 1.0),

. . .

. . .

$$a_2 = Aa_1/2 = (2, 2, 1, 1)^t, \ \alpha(a_1) = 2, \beta(a_1) = 4,$$
 (153)

(154)

$$a_6 = (1.625, 1.625, 1, 1)^t, \ \alpha(a_5) = 3.2, \beta(a_5) = 3.25,$$
 (155)

$$a_{11} = (1.61798, 1.61798, 1, 1)^t, \ \alpha(a_{10}) = 3.2359550, \beta(a_{10}) = 3.2363636.$$
 (157)

Thus we have $3.2359550 \le r \le 3.2363636$. This implies that the ground-state energy of H = -A + 2I is given as $-1.2359550 \le E_g \le -1.2363636$. The exact value is $E_g = -1.2360680$ and the eigenvector is $v = ((1 + \sqrt{5})/2, (1 + \sqrt{5})/2, 1, 1)^t =$ $(1.61803, 1.61803, 1, 1)^t$. For the general U > 0, we can proceed with the same method. Let $a_n = (1, 1, x_n, x_n)^t$ $(0 < x_n < 1)$. Then

$$Aa_{n} = \begin{bmatrix} U + 2x_{n} \\ U + 2x_{n} \\ 2 \\ 2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \alpha(a_{n}) = U + 2x_{n}, \beta(a_{n}) = 2/x_{n}.$$
(158)

(Here we have assumed that $U + 2x_n \leq 2/x_n$.) In the limit $n \to \infty$, we have U + 2x = 2/x for $x = \lim x_n$. Then the lowest eigenvalue of H is given by

$$E_g = -2x = \frac{U}{2} - \left(\left(\frac{U}{2}\right)^2 + 4\right)^{1/2}.$$
(159)

Next we show an interesting theorem regarding an irreducible non-negative matrix. Let $r = \rho(A)$ be a Frobenius eigenvalue of A. We have two cases:

(I) $r > |\alpha|$ for any other eigenvalue $\alpha \neq r$ of A. In this case we say that A is primitive.

(II) There are eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_k$ for which $r = |\lambda_i|$ $(i = 1, \dots, k, k \ge 2)$. In this case A is said to be imprimitive.

For an imprimitive matrix A, A has a structure mentioned below.

Theorem 3.5 (Frobenius) Let A be an irreducible non-negative $n \times n$ matrix. We assume that there are k eigenvalues λ_i $(i = 1, \dots, k)$ $(k \ge 2)$ where the absolute values are equal to the Frobenius eigenvalue. Then (a) λ_i $(i = 1, \dots, k)$ is simple root of the secular equation of A, and we can write

$$\lambda_{n+1} = \rho(A)e^{i2\pi n/k}, \quad n = 0, 1, \cdots, k-1.$$
(160)

(b) By a permutation matrix P, A is written as

$$P^{-1}AP = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A_{12} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A_{23} & \dots & 0 \\ \dots & & & \dots & \\ A_{k1} & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (161)

For a primitive matrix A, we can say about an existence of limit A^m . The behavior of A^m in the limit $m \to \infty$ is crucially dependent on whether A is primitive or not.

Theorem 3.6 Let $A \ge 0$ an irreducible square matrix. Then if and only if $\rho(A) = 1$ and A is primitive, we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A^n = A^* \neq 0. \tag{162}$$

3.2. Perron-Frobenius theorem: General case

Now let us go over to reducible matrices. Some properties of irreducible nonnegative matrices are preserved for reducible ones, since a reducible matrix is obtained as the limit of a sequence of irreducible matrices.

Theorem 3.7 Let A be a non-negative $n \times n$ matrix.

(a) A has a non-negative eigenvalue r. To this eigenvalue r there corresponds a non-negative eigenvector:

$$Ax = rx \ (x \ge 0, \ x \ne 0).$$
 (163)

(b) The absolute value of all the eigenvalues of A do not exceed r.

This theorem is also sometimes called the Perron-Frobenius theorem. We again call r as the Frobenius eigenvalue. A uniqueness of the eigenvector with the maximal eigenvalue is not guaranteed because A may be reduced to a triangular block form. In the next section we show a proof. Instead, a short proof for *Theorem 3.7* (a) is presented here by virtue of Brouwer fixed point theorem.

Proof of (a) We can assume that every column of A has at least one non-zero element. (Otherwise 0 is an eigenvalue and the theorem holds.) Let $N = \{\mathbf{x} | ||\mathbf{x}||^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2 = 1, \mathbf{x} \ge 0\}$. We define a continuous mapping $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) : N \to N$ by

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{||A\mathbf{x}||} A\mathbf{x}.$$
 (164)

Clearly, if $\mathbf{x} \in N$, then $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) \in N$. Thus it is from the Brouwer theorem (see the Lemma below) that the mapping $\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x})$ has a fixed point. For some \mathbf{x}^* , we have

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}^*) = \mathbf{x}^*, \ \mathbf{x}^* \in N.$$
(165)

Hence

$$\frac{1}{||Ax^*||}A\mathbf{x}^* = \mathbf{x}^*. \tag{166}$$

We let $r = ||Ax^*||$, for which $r \ge 0$ since $a_{ij} \ge 0$ and $\mathbf{x}^* \ne 0 (\in N)$. Then we have

$$A\mathbf{x}^* = r\mathbf{x}^*,\tag{167}$$

and (a) holds. \Box

As a reference, we show the Brouwer theorem.^{100,101} Let D^n be *n*-disk defined as $D^n = \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n |||\mathbf{x}||^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 = 1\}.$

Lemma 3.8 (Brouwer) A continuous mapping $f : D^n \to D^n$ has a fixed point: $f(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{x}$ for some $\mathbf{x} \in D^n$.

Proof Let us assume that $f(x) \neq x$ for any $x \in D^n$. Then $x - f(x) \neq 0$ for any $x \in D^n$. We define a mapping $g: D^n \to S^{n-1}$ as follows. For each $x \in D^n$, g(x)

is a projection of x onto S^{n-1} where x - f(x) is parallel to g(x) - x. Then g(x) is continuous and $g|S^{n-1}$ is an identity mapping. However, this mapping is impossible because D^n and S^{n-1} have different topological invariants,¹⁰⁰

$$H_{n-1}(D^n) = 0, \quad H_{n-1}(S^{n-1}) = \mathbf{Z}.$$
 (168)

Hence f has a fixed point. \square

Lastly we show one statement for a non-negative matrix.

Theorem 3.9 Let A be a $n \times n$ non-negative matrix and r be the Frobenius eigenvalue of A. For $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) > 0$, we set

$$\lambda_x = \min_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j}{x_i}, \quad \Lambda_x = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j}{x_i}.$$
 (169)

Then

$$\lambda_x \le r \le \Lambda_x. \tag{170}$$

If A is irreducible,

$$\max_{x} \lambda_x = r = \min_{x} \Lambda_x. \tag{171}$$

Corollary

$$\min_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \le r \le \max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij},$$
(172)

$$\min_{1 \le j \le n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ij} \le r \le \max_{1 \le j \le n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ij}.$$
(173)

3.3. Appendix: Proof of the Perron-Frobenius theorem

In this section the Perron-Frobenius theorem is proved, where we follow the treatments in Refs.^{102,103}. First let us consider the following Lemmas.

Lemma 3.10 For an $n \times n$ irreducible matrix A,

$$(I+A)^{n-1} > 0, (174)$$

where I is a unit matrix.

Proof Let $A = (a_{ij})$ and $\Gamma = \{(i, j) \in \Omega \times \Omega | a_{ij} \neq 0\}$ for $\Omega = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. We set $A^m = (a_{ij}^{(m)})$. We define $\Gamma(i, j)$ as a set of path connecting i and j, that is, if $\sigma = (i, i_1, \dots, i_{m-1}, j) \in \Gamma(i, j)$, then $a_{ii_1} \neq 0, a_{i_1i_2} \neq 0, \dots, a_{i_{m-2}i_{m-1}} \neq 0$ and $a_{i_{m-1}j} \neq 0$. We write $L(\sigma) = m$ which is called the length of σ . Then

$$a_{ij}^{(m)} = \sum_{i_1, \dots, i_{m-1}} a_{ii_1} a_{i_1 i_2} \cdots a_{i_{m-1} j}$$
$$= \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma(i,j), L(\sigma) = m} a_{\sigma}, \qquad (175)$$

where $a_{\sigma} = a_{i_0i_1}a_{i_1i_2}\cdots a_{i_{m-1}i_m}$ $(i_0 = i)$. Hence $a_{ij}^{(m)} > 0$ if and only if there exists $\sigma \in \Gamma(i, j)$ such that $a_{\sigma} > 0$ and $L(\sigma) = m$. One can assume that in $\sigma = (i_0, i_1, \cdots, i_m)$ indices i_0, i_1, \cdots, i_m are different each other. This indicates that if $\Gamma(i, j) \neq \phi$, we have an element $\sigma = (i_0, i_1, \cdots, i_m) \in \Gamma(i, j)$ such that $m+1 \leq |\Omega| = n$, i.e. $m \leq n-1$. Therefore $\Gamma(i, j) \neq \phi$ implies

$$a_{ij} + a_{ij}^{(2)} + \dots + a_{ij}^{(n-1)} > 0.$$
 (176)

Since A is irreducible, $\Gamma(i, j) \neq \phi$ for $i \neq j$ and then (i, j) element x_{ij} of $(I + A)^{n-1}$ is positive because of eq.(176):

$$x_{ij} = (n-1)a_{ij} + \binom{n-1}{2}a_{ij}^{(2)} + \dots + a_{ij}^{(n-1)} > 0.$$
(177)

Obviously, the diagonal elements of $(I + A)^{n-1}$ is $\geq 1 > 0$. \square

Lemma 3.11 For a non-negative $n \times n$ matrix A and a real positive number s, $\rho(A) < s$ if and only if there is some $\mathbf{y} > 0$ ($\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{R}^n$) such that $s\mathbf{y} > A\mathbf{y}$.

Proof Let us suppose that $\rho(A) < s$. Then $\rho(B) < 1$ for B = A/s. Since the absolute value of every eigenvalue of B is less than 1, $I + B + B^2 + \cdots$ converges and equals $(I-B)^{-1}$. Hence $(I-B)^{-1} \ge 0$. Let $\mathbf{z} = (1, \dots, 1)^t$, then $(I-B)^{-1}\mathbf{z} = \mathbf{y} > 0$. (Note that each row of $(I-B)^{-1}$ has at least one non-zero element.) Since $\mathbf{z} = (I-B)\mathbf{y}$, we have $\mathbf{y} > B\mathbf{y}$.

Inversely, suppose that $\mathbf{y} > B\mathbf{y}$ for $\mathbf{y} > 0$ and B = A/s. Let $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{y} - B\mathbf{y} > 0$, then $B^i \mathbf{u} \ge 0$ $(i = 1, 2, \cdots)$. It is easy to see that

$$\mathbf{u}_m = \mathbf{u} + B\mathbf{u} + B^2\mathbf{u} + \dots + B^m\mathbf{u} = (I + B + B^2 + \dots + B^m)(I - B)\mathbf{y}$$
$$= \mathbf{y} - B^{m+1}\mathbf{y} \le \mathbf{y}.$$
(178)

If we write $\mathbf{u}_m = (v_1^{(m)}, \dots, v_n^{(m)})$, then we obtain a bounded and monotonically increasing sequence: $v_j^{(1)} \leq v_j^{(2)} \leq \cdots$. Since \mathbf{u}_m converges, we have $\mathbf{u}_m - \mathbf{u}_{m-1} \to 0$, i.e. $B^m \mathbf{u} \to 0$. Hence $B^m \to 0$ since $\mathbf{u} > 0$. This indicates that $\rho(B) < 1$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.1 (a) Let $\{s_i\}$ be a sequence such that $s_1 > s_2 > \cdots > r$ and $\lim s_i = r$. It is followed from Lemma 3.11 that $s_i \mathbf{y}_i > A\mathbf{y}_i$ for some $\mathbf{y}_i > 0$ $(\mathbf{y}_i \in \mathbf{R}^n)$. We can suppose that $||\mathbf{y}_i|| = 1$. Since $\{\mathbf{y}_i\}$ is bounded in \mathbf{R}^n , $\{\mathbf{y}_i\}$ (or its subsequence) converges to some limit. Let $\mathbf{y} = \lim \mathbf{y}_i$. Obviously $\mathbf{y} \ge 0$ and $||\mathbf{y}|| = 1$. Since $s_i \mathbf{y}_i > A\mathbf{y}_i$, we have $r\mathbf{y} \ge A\mathbf{y}$.

Now we show that $r\mathbf{y} = A\mathbf{y}$. Since $(I + A)^{n-1} > 0$ from Lemma 3.10, we have $\mathbf{v} \equiv (I + A)^{n-1}\mathbf{y} > 0$. Suppose that $r\mathbf{y} \neq A\mathbf{y}$, then

$$0 < (I+A)^{n-1}(rI-A)\mathbf{y} = (rI-A)(I+A)^{n-1}\mathbf{y} = r\mathbf{v} - A\mathbf{v}.$$
 (179)

Then $r\mathbf{v} > A\mathbf{v}$ is followed. $\mathbf{v} > 0$ indicates that $r > \rho(A)$. This is a contradiction. Hence we have $r\mathbf{y} = A\mathbf{y}$. Next we show that $\mathbf{y} > 0$ and r > 0. The former is followed from $0 < (I + A)^{n-1}\mathbf{y} = (1+r)^{n-1}\mathbf{y}$. To show the latter, suppose that r = 0. Then $A\mathbf{y} = 0$, which leads to A = 0 since $\mathbf{y} > 0$. Hence $(I + A)^{n-1} = I$ which contradicts with $(I + A)^{n-1} > 0$.

(b) Let $B = (b_{ij})$. Let β be any eigenvalue of B: $B\mathbf{x} = \beta \mathbf{x} (\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^t \neq 0)$. Since $\rho(A^t) = \rho(A)$, there exists $\mathbf{y} > 0$ ($\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{R}^n$) such that $A^t \mathbf{y} = r\mathbf{y}$ for $r = \rho(A)$. We define \mathbf{x}^+ as $\mathbf{x}^+ = (|x_1|, \dots, |x_n|)^t$. Because $\sum_j b_{ij} x_j = \beta x_i$, we have $\sum_j b_{ij} |x_j| \ge |\beta| |x_i|$ or

$$B\mathbf{x}^+ \ge |\beta|\mathbf{x}^+, \ \mathbf{x} \ge 0.$$
 (180)

We multiply \mathbf{y} from the left and obtain

$$\beta(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}^+) \le (\mathbf{y}, B\mathbf{x}^+) \le (\mathbf{y}, A\mathbf{x}) = r(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}^+).$$
(181)

Note that $(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}^+) > 0$ since $\mathbf{y} > 0$ and $\mathbf{x}^+ \ge 0$. Then we have

$$r \ge |\beta|. \tag{182}$$

Let us consider the case where $r = |\beta|$. Then

$$(\mathbf{y}, B\mathbf{x}^+) = (\mathbf{y}, A\mathbf{x}^+) \tag{183}$$

is followed. The fact $\mathbf{y} > 0$ indicates that

$$B\mathbf{x}^+ = A\mathbf{x}^+. \tag{184}$$

Similarly we have $B\mathbf{x}^+ = r\mathbf{x}^+$ from eq.(181). Hence $A\mathbf{x}^+ = r\mathbf{x}^+$. Then it is followed from (a) that $\mathbf{x} > 0$. Thus A = B from eq.(184).

(c) Let f(t) = det(tI - A). Then

$$= \left| \begin{array}{cccc} 1 & -a_{12} & \cdots & -a_{1n} \\ 0 & t - a_{22} & \cdots & -a_{2n} \\ \cdots & & \cdots & \\ 0 & -a_{n2} & \cdots & t - a_{nn} \end{array} \right| + \cdots + \left| \begin{array}{cccc} t - a_{11} & -a_{12} & \cdots & 0 \\ -a_{21} & t - a_{22} & \cdots & 0 \\ \cdots & & \cdots & & \cdots \\ -a_{n1} & -a_{n2} & \cdots & t - a_{nn} \end{array} \right| \\ = det(tI_{n-1} - A_1) + \cdots + det(tI_{n-1} - A_n), \qquad (185)$$

where I_{n-1} is a unit matrix of degree n-1. Let B_i be a matrix obtained from A by replacing elements in the *i*th row and *i*th column by 0. A_i is defined from A by removing *i*th row and *i*th column from A. By a permutation matrix P, we can write

$$PB_i P^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & & & \\ \dots & & A_i \\ 0 & & & \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (186)

Hence we have

$$det(tI - B_i) = t \cdot det(tI_{n-1} - A_i).$$
(187)

This means that $\rho(B_i) = \rho(A_i)$. Since $A \ge B_i \ge 0$, $\rho(A) \ge \rho(B_i)$ from (b). Thus we have $r = \rho(A) > \rho(B_i) = \rho(A_i)$ $(A \ne B_i)$. This indicates that

$$det(rI_{n-1} - A_i) > 0. (188)$$

Therefore f'(r) > 0 and r is a simple root of f(t) = 0.

Proof of Theorem 3.2 Since A^t and A have the same eigenvalues, $\rho(A) = \rho(A^t)$. There exists $\mathbf{y} > 0$ ($\mathbf{y} \in bfR^n$) such that $A^t\mathbf{y} = r\mathbf{y}$ for $r = \rho(A)$. Then $(\alpha \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = (A\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = (\mathbf{x}, A^t\mathbf{y}) = (\mathbf{x}, \alpha \mathbf{y})$. Hence $\alpha(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = r(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$. Since $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) > 0$, we have $\alpha = r$. From $(I + A)^{n-1} > 0$, $(I + A)^{n-1}\mathbf{x} = (1 + \alpha)^{n-1}\mathbf{x} > 0$ is followed. Then $\mathbf{x} > 0$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.3 Let $\alpha = \alpha_A(\mathbf{x}), \beta = \beta_A(\mathbf{x})$ and $r = \rho(A)$. From the definition, we have $\alpha \mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y} = A\mathbf{x} \leq \beta \mathbf{x}$. If we take $\mathbf{z} > 0$ such that $A^t \mathbf{z} = r\mathbf{z}$, then $(\alpha \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \leq (\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}) \leq (\beta \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z})$. Hence

$$(\alpha \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \le (A\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) = (\mathbf{x}, A^t \mathbf{z}) = r(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) \le (\beta \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}).$$
(189)

Since $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z}) > 0$, we have $\alpha \leq r \leq \beta$. If $\alpha = r$, then $\alpha \mathbf{x} = A\mathbf{x}$ is followed from eq.(189) and $\mathbf{z} > 0$. Hence we have $\alpha \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{y}$. It is followed from the definition of α and β that $\beta = \alpha$. Similarly $\beta = r$ implies $\alpha = \beta$. Therefore we have $\alpha < r < \beta$ if $\alpha < \beta$. \square

Proof of Theorem 3.4 Let us apply $B \ge 0$ to the inequality $\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j)\mathbf{a}_j \le B\mathbf{a}_j \le \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j)\mathbf{a}_j$:

$$\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j)\mathbf{a}_{j+1} \le B\mathbf{a}_{j+1} \le \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j)\mathbf{a}_{j+1}.$$
(190)

From the definitions of α_B and β_B , we have

$$\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j) \le \alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_{j+1}) \le \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_{j+1}) \le \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j).$$
(191)

Since $1 + r = \rho(B)$ $(r = \rho(A))$, we have $\alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j) \leq 1 + r \leq \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j)$ $(j = 1, 2, \cdots)$ from *Theorem 3.3.* It is followed from the definition that I + A is primitive. Thus a sequence $\{(B/(1+r))^j\}_{j=1,2,\cdots}$ has a finite limit $\lim_{j\to\infty} (B/(1+r))^j$ because of *Theorem 3.6.* Hence for some $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbf{R}^n$,

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \left(\frac{B}{1+r}\right)^j \mathbf{a} = \lim_{j \to \infty} (1+r)^{-j} \mathbf{a}_j = \mathbf{b}.$$
 (192)

Applying B, we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (1+r)^{-j} B \mathbf{a}_j = \lim_{j \to \infty} (1+r)^{-(j+1)} \mathbf{a}_{j+1} (1+r) = (1+r) \mathbf{b}.$$
 (193)

From the definition of α_B and β_B , we obtain

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \alpha_B(\mathbf{a}_j) = 1 + r, \quad \lim_{j \to \infty} \beta_B(\mathbf{a}_j) = 1 + r.$$
(194)

This concludes the proof. \square

Proof of Theorem 3.6 Suppose that $\lim_{m\to\infty} A^m = A^* \neq 0$. From a theorem in Linear algebra (see Lemma 3.12 below), we should have $\rho(A) = 1$ and its multiplicity should be 1. Thus A is primitive.

Inversely, suppose that $\rho(A) = 1$ and A is primitive. Obviously $\lim_{m\to\infty} A^m = A^* \neq 0$ exists from Lemma 3.12. \Box

Lemma 3.12 For a $n \times n$ square matrix A, the following (a) and (b) are equivalent. (a) There exists a limit $\lim_{n\to\infty} A^n = B$.

(b) For any eigenvalue α of A, we have $|\alpha| < 1$ or $\alpha = 1$. If $\alpha = 1$ is the eigenvalue of A, $\alpha = 1$ is a simple root of the characteristic equation. (See some text for a proof.)

Proof of Theorem 3.7 (a) Let $A = (a_{ij})$. We define a matrix $A^{(m)} = (a_{ij}^{(m)})$ by $a_{ij}^{(m)} = a_{ij} + 1/m$ for $m = 1, 2, \cdots$. Since $A^{(m)} > 0$, $A^{(m)}$ is irreducible. Then by Theorem 3.1, $A^{(m)}$ has the Frobenius eigenvalue $r^{(m)}$ and its corresponding positive eigenvector $\mathbf{x}^{(m)} > 0$:

$$A^{(m)}\mathbf{x}^{(m)} = r^{(m)}\mathbf{x}^{(m)}, \quad r^{(m)} > 0, \quad \mathbf{x}^{(m)} > 0.$$
(195)

Let

$$N = \{ \mathbf{x} | \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = 1, \ \mathbf{x} \ge 0 \}.$$
(196)

We can assume that $\mathbf{x}^{(m)} \in N$ $(m = 1, 2, \cdots)$. Since N is compact, from $\{\mathbf{x}^{(m)}\}$ we can chose a subsequence

$$\mathbf{x}^{\nu_1}, \mathbf{x}^{\nu_2}, \cdots, \mathbf{x}^{\nu_j}, \cdots, \quad (\nu_1 < \nu_2 < \cdots < \nu_j < \cdots),$$
 (197)

which converges. Let

$$\mathbf{x} = \lim_{j \to \infty} \mathbf{x}^{\nu_j}.$$
 (198)

Obviously $A^{(m)} > A^{(m+1)} > A$ $(m = 1, 2, \cdots)$. Then by *Theorem 3.1*(b), we have $r^{(m)} \ge r^{(m+1)} > 0$ $(m = 1, 2, \cdots)$. Thus the sequence $r^{(1)}, r^{(2)}, \cdots, r^{(j)}, \cdots$ is bounded from below and monotonically decreasing, indicating an existence of a limit:

$$r = \lim_{m \to \infty} r^{(m)} \ge 0. \tag{199}$$

Then $\{r^{(\nu_j)}\}$ also converges to r and in the limit $j \to \infty$ we have

$$A\mathbf{x} = r\mathbf{x}.\tag{200}$$

Clearly $\mathbf{x} \geq 0$ since $\mathbf{x} \in N$.

(b) Since $A^{(m)}$ is irreducible and $A^{(m)} > A \ge 0$, we have

$$r^{(m)} \ge |\alpha|, \quad (m = 1, 2, \cdots)$$
 (201)

for any eigenvalue α of A from Theorem 3.1(b). Let $m \to \infty$, then

$$r \ge |\alpha|. \tag{202}$$

Now (b) holds. \square

To keep the section within reasonable length, we omit a proof of *Theorem 3.8* since its proof has a little bit large length. See, for example, Ref.⁹⁸ for a complete proof.

Proof of Theorem 3.9 Let \mathbf{y} be an eigenvector corresponding to the Frobenius eigenvalue $r = \rho(A^t)$. Then

$$\mathbf{y}^t A = r \mathbf{y}^t, \quad \mathbf{y}^t \ge 0, \tag{203}$$

is followed. From the definition of λ_x and Λ_x , we have

$$\lambda_x x_i \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j \le \Lambda_x x_i \quad (i = 1, 2, \cdots, n),$$

$$(204)$$

and

$$\lambda_x \mathbf{x} \le A \mathbf{x} \le \Lambda_x \mathbf{x}. \tag{205}$$

It is followed from eq.(203) that

$$\lambda_x(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}) \le r(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}) \le \Lambda_x(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}).$$
(206)

Since $(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}) > 0$, we have

$$\lambda_x \le r \le \Lambda_x. \tag{207}$$

If A is irreducible, there is a vector $\mathbf{x}^* > 0$ such that $A\mathbf{x}^* = r\mathbf{x}^*$. Therefore

$$r = (\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_j^*) / x_i^*.$$
 (208)

This implies $r = \lambda_{x^*} = \Lambda_{x^*}$. \square

4. Applications of the Perron-Frobenius theorem to interacting systems

4.1. The Heisenberg model

Let us discuss the Heisenberg model following the treatment in Refs.^{57,104} to prove a uniqueness of the ground state on a finite lattice employing the Perron-Frobenius theorem. We write again the Lemma mentioned in the section **2.4**.

Theorem 4.1 Let us consider the spin-1/2 antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model on a connected and bipartite lattice,

$$H = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j, \tag{209}$$

where $J_{ij} \ge 0$ are non-zero for $i \in A$ and $j \in B$ or $i \in B$ and $j \in A$. Let us denote the number of sites in A and B sublattices as |A| and |B|, respectively, and assume that $|A| \ge |B|$. Then the ground state is unique and has S = (|A| - |B|)/2.

Proof In the subspace with $S^z = M$, we can choose the basis set $\{\phi_\alpha\}$ where each ϕ_α denote a configuration of spins in the real space. First, let us perform a transformation

$$S_i^x \to -S_i^x, \quad S_i^y \to -S_i^y, \quad S_i^z \to S_i^z \quad (i \in A)$$

$$\tag{210}$$

and the spins on the *B*-sublattice are unaltered. The Hamiltonian reads $H = H_0 + H_1$ in the new system, where

$$H_0 = \sum_{ij} J_{ij} S_i^z S_j^z,$$
(211)

$$H_1 = -\sum_{ij} J_{ij} \frac{1}{2} (S_i^+ S_j^- + S_i^- S_j^+).$$
(212)

 H_1 is the off-diagonal part of H.

Suppose that the z-component S_i^z has $m_i (i \in \Lambda)$ (=1/2 or -1/2) in a given state ϕ_{α} . Then our basis state is given by

$$\phi_{\alpha} = C(S_1^+)^{\frac{1}{2} + m_1} (S_2^+)^{\frac{1}{2} + m_2} \cdots (S_N^+)^{\frac{1}{2} + m_N} \psi_0, \qquad (213)$$

where ψ_0 is the state occupied by down spins at each site and C is a positive normalization constant. Then it is easy to check that the matrix element defined by

$$T_{\beta\alpha} = \langle \phi_{\beta} | H_1 | \phi_{\alpha} \rangle \tag{214}$$

is non-positive for any α and β :

$$T_{\beta\alpha} \le 0. \tag{215}$$

The connectivity of Λ guarantees that $T = (T_{\beta\alpha})$ is irreducible.^{*a*}Hence the Perron-Frobenius theorem implies a uniqueness of the lowest energy state in each subspace

^{*a*}See the section **3.1** for the definition of *irreducible*.

with $S^z = M$. This indicates that the ground state is unique since every energy eigenvalue has a corresponding eigenfunction in the lowest M subspace. The ground state eigenfunction ψ has positive amplitudes for this basis set, i.e.

$$\psi = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha} \phi_{\alpha}, \quad c_{\alpha} > 0.$$
(216)

Now let us consider the total spin of the ground state. If |A| = |B|, we can easily construct a trial state with S = 0. A simple one is

$$\psi_{tri} = C' \psi_{i_1 j_1} \psi_{i_2 j_2} \cdots \psi_{i_{N/2} j_{N/2}},\tag{217}$$

where $i_k \in A$, $j_k \in B$ and C' > 0. $(i_1, \dots, i_{N/2})$ are different one another, which also applies to $j_1, \dots, j_{N/2}$.) $\psi_{i_k j_k}$ denotes a local singlet in which spins are located on sites i_k and j_k . If we compared the signs of amplitudes in the expansion in our basis set $\{\phi_\alpha\}$, we can check that ψ and ψ_{tri} have exactly the same signs (if we go back to the original system). Thus we have $\langle \psi | \psi_{tri} \rangle \neq 0$. Hence ψ has S = 0. We can proceed in a similar manner for general cases |A| > |B|, where the spins on the different sublattices are in antiferromagnetic-like states and the spins on the same sublattices are ferromagnetic like. \square

In the theorem above, the spin of a localized electron is 1/2, but following the original paper⁵⁷ we may be extending to deal with various types of localized spins, where the magnitude of spin on each site is s_i . In this case the total spin is given by

$$S = |S_A - S_B|, \tag{218}$$

where S_A and S_B are maximum possible spins on each sublattices,

$$S_A = \sum_{i \in A} s_i, \quad S_B = \sum_{j \in B} s_j. \tag{219}$$

4.2. Double exchange interaction and ferromagnetism

In this section let us consider the ferromagnetism induced by double exchange interaction. The double exchange interaction may be important for the ferromagnetism of real materials such as mixed valency compounds. In the subsequent sections we will show several models which exhibit ferromagnetism due to the double exchange interaction. The double exchange interaction was first proposed long time ago by Zener¹⁰⁵ in the study of ferromagnetism of mixed valence compounds such as $La_{1-x}Ca_xMnO_3$. Later Anderson and Hasegawa¹⁰⁶ calculated energy splitting due to the double exchange. In the semiconducting phase each Mn ion has a charge of 3+. When some of the La^{3+} are replaced by Ca^{2+} ions, a corresponding number of Mn³⁺ ions are replaced by Mn⁴⁺ ions. This doping effect gives rise to electrical conductivity. Let us examine the magnetism of two Mn ions separated by an O²⁻ ion. Following Zener, we assume large Hund couplings so that each Mn ion has its highest multiplicity. We define three configurations as follows.¹⁰⁷

$$\psi_{I} : \mathrm{Mn}^{3+}(\uparrow\uparrow)\mathrm{O}^{2-}(\downarrow\uparrow)\mathrm{Mn}^{4+}(\uparrow)$$

$$\psi_{II} : \mathrm{Mn}^{3+}(\uparrow\uparrow)\mathrm{O}^{-}(\downarrow)\mathrm{Mn}^{3+}(\uparrow\uparrow)$$

$$\psi_{III} : \mathrm{Mn}^{4+}(\uparrow)\mathrm{O}^{2-}(\downarrow\uparrow)\mathrm{Mn}^{3+}(\uparrow\uparrow)$$

Since ψ_I and ψ_{III} have the same energy, the ferromagnetic state will be stabilized through the excited state ψ_{II} . This resonance is absent for two Mn ions with antiparallel spins. Hence an effective exchange interaction between Mn³⁺ and Mn⁴⁺ is ferromagnetic, which is the proposal by Zener called the double exchange.

Let us consider the following process; this may be also called the double exchange where the ferromagnetic couplings between localized spins are induced by succesive exchange interactions between the conduction electrons and the localized spins. We define three states ψ_1 , ψ_2 and ψ_3 with $S^z = 1/2$ in which $d_i(\sigma)$ (i = 1, 2) denotes the localized electron with spin σ and the exchange process occurs through the intermediary of $s(\sigma')$ electron.

$$\psi_1 = d_1(\uparrow)s(\downarrow)d_2(\uparrow),$$

$$\psi_2 = d_1(\uparrow)s(\uparrow)d_2(\downarrow),$$

$$\psi_3 = d_1(\downarrow)s(\uparrow)d_2(\uparrow).$$

Suppose that we have an exchange coupling $H = J(\mathbf{S}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} + \mathbf{S}_2 \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})$ between d and s electrons. We have off-diagonal elements of H as

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & J/2 & J/2 \\ J/2 & 0 & 0 \\ J/2 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (220)

Clearly two localized spins are ferromagnetic, which is also seen by the Perron-Fobenius theorem. Maybe we don't need to refer to the Perron-Frobenius theorem for such a small system. For J < 0 the ground state has S = 3/2 since the eigenvector is positive (> 0). For J > 0 the matrix of off-diagonal elements is non-positive for the set of basis $\{-\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3\}$ and therefore two localized spins are parallel again.

Based on this consideration, we investigate the Kondo (lattice) Hamiltonian given as

$$H = J \sum_{i\sigma\sigma'} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} \sigma_{\sigma\sigma'} c_{i\sigma'} + \sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma}, \qquad (221)$$

where \mathbf{S}_i is the spin-1/2 localized spin on the *i*-th site and $\sigma_{\sigma\sigma'}$ indicate the Pauli matrices. The localized spins are located on every sites periodically. $c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}$ and $c_{i\sigma}$ are operators for the conduction electrons with the transfer matrix elements t_{ij} between the *i*-th and *j*-th sites. Here let us assume that J < 0 corresponding to the Hund coupling.

Suppose that |J| is large or t_{ij} are small considerably.^{108,110} When the transfer term is absent, the eigenstates of H are highly degenerate with respect to spin and

electron configurations. The electron hoppings due to the perturbation produce the double exchange interaction and the degeneracies are removed. Our purpose is to derive an effective Hamiltonian in the limit where $|J| \gg |t_{ij}|$. We should exclude doubly occupied sites since they have higher energy of the order of J. The transfer term is written in a form which is similar to the 'correlated hopping' Hubbard model, where the transfer integrals are dependent on spin configurations at sites i and j. An important feature is that we have the terms such as $c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{j\uparrow}$ and $c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j\downarrow}$. The following four processes should be considered, where we use the notation

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} d_i & d_j \\ s_i & s_j \end{array}\right),\tag{222}$$

for which d_i and s_i indicate spin state of the localized spin and the conduction electron at site *i*, respectively, and – means no conduction electron:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \uparrow \\ - & \uparrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \uparrow \\ \uparrow & - \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \downarrow & - \end{pmatrix},$$
(223)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ - & \uparrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \uparrow & - \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \downarrow \\ \downarrow & - \end{pmatrix},$$
(224)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ - & \uparrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \uparrow \\ - & \downarrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \downarrow & \uparrow \\ \downarrow & - \end{pmatrix},$$
 (225)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \downarrow \\ - & \uparrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \uparrow \\ - & \downarrow \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \uparrow & \uparrow \\ \downarrow & - \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (226)

These transfers are written in a unified way,

$$t_{ij}(1-n_{i\uparrow})c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow}c_{j\uparrow}(1-n_{j\downarrow})(P_jP_i)_{\downarrow\uparrow}, \qquad (227)$$

where a matrix $(P_i)_{\sigma\sigma'}$ is defined by

$$(P_i)_{\sigma\sigma} = \sigma S_i^z + \frac{1}{2} + \lambda \ (\sigma = \uparrow, \downarrow),$$
(228)

$$(P_i)_{\uparrow\downarrow} = S_i^-, \quad (P_i)_{\downarrow\uparrow} = S_i^+, \tag{229}$$

or we can write

$$(P_i)_{\sigma\sigma'} = \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \sigma_{\sigma\sigma'} + (\frac{1}{2} + \lambda)\delta_{\sigma\sigma'}.$$
 (230)

 $(\lambda \text{ is a constant.})$ $(P_i P_j)_{\downarrow\uparrow} = (P_i)_{\downarrow\uparrow} (P_j)_{\uparrow\uparrow} + (P_i)_{\downarrow\downarrow} (P_j)_{\downarrow\uparrow}$ in eq.(227) contributes to four terms above. Therefore the effective Hamiltonian for the conduction electrons is written in the form of a modified infinite-U model $(\lambda = 1)$:¹⁰⁸

$$H_{eff} = \sum_{ij\sigma\sigma'} t_{ij}(1 - n_{i,-\sigma})c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma}c_{j\sigma'}(1 - n_{j,-\sigma'})(P_iP_j)_{\sigma\sigma'}.$$
 (231)

Now we investigate the ground state of this effective Hamiltonian. Let us consider the following statement.¹¹¹

Theorem 4.2 We consider the Hamiltonian in eq.(231) on a one-dimensional (connected) lattice with open boundary condition. Suppose that $t = t_{ij}$ are non-zero for nearest-neighbor pairs (i, j) and t < 0. Then the ground state is unique for $N_e < N$ (where N_e and N are number of electrons and sites, respectively).

Proof It is easy to see that matrix elements of the Hamiltonian are non-positive if t is negative. This is because an electron cannot pass through another electrons since no doubly-occupied sites are allowed. It is also obvious that the matrix is irreducible because of the geometry (with periodic localized spins) of one-dimensional chain. To show this, we can employ the mathematical induction with respect to the number of sites.¹¹¹ Therefore the ground state is unique according to the Perron-Frobenius theorem. \square

As a result of the Perron-Frobenius theorem, we have the ferromagnetic ground state with a positive eigenvector. This is a ferromagnetism due to the double exchange interaction. A similar discussion is possible for the antiferromagnetic Kondo coupling J > 0 which is going to be investigated in the next section.

4.3. 1D Kondo lattice in the limit of large J

The Kondo lattice with the antiferromagnetic J > 0 is also mapped onto a Hubbard model with infinitely large on-site Coulomb interaction if we regard the local singlet as a hole.^{109,110} Our model is defined on a one-dimensional lattice with open boundary condition. The ground state can be ferromagnetic due to the succesive exchange interactions (i.e. double exchange). We can easily emagine that the local singlets are moving along a chain and we should note that spin-flip process of the neighboring localized spins is never included in the infinite-J limit. This point is different from the case with the ferromagnetic J < 0 in the previous section. The matrix of the Hamiltonian is not necessarily irreducible in the zeroth order of t/J, which means that we have the spin degeneracy. For example, see the following process:

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc}\uparrow & \downarrow & \downarrow\\ & \uparrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{ccc}\uparrow & \downarrow & \downarrow\\ & \uparrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{ccc}\uparrow & \uparrow & \downarrow\\ & \downarrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{ccc}\uparrow & \uparrow & \downarrow\\ & \downarrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{ccc}\uparrow & \uparrow & \downarrow\\ \downarrow & \end{array}\right), \quad (232)$$

where the upper and lower parts indicate the localized spins and conduction electron, respectively. The localized spins are never exchanged.

Hence we should consider contributions of the order of t/J. There are two kinds of virtual processes: one is to make a local triplet and the other is to go through a doubly-occupied site. Both of them create next nearest neighbor hopping terms. (See below.)

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow &\downarrow &\uparrow\\ &\downarrow &\downarrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow &\downarrow &\uparrow\\ &\downarrow &\downarrow\end{array}\right) \rightarrow \left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow &\downarrow &\uparrow\\ \downarrow &\downarrow\end{array}\right), \tag{233}$$

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow&\downarrow&\uparrow\\&\uparrow&\downarrow\end{array}\right)\rightarrow\left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow&\downarrow&\uparrow\\&\downarrow\uparrow\end{array}\right)\rightarrow\left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow&\downarrow&\uparrow\\&\downarrow\uparrow\end{array}\right)\rightarrow\left(\begin{array}{cc}\uparrow&\downarrow&\uparrow\\\downarrow&\uparrow\end{array}\right).$$
(234)

The former involves a spin flip and the latter causes no effect in the spin configuration. Therefore the effective Hamiltonian for J > 0 is written as, (See Ref.¹⁰⁹ for a mathematical derivation)

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} \underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} \underline{\mathbf{f}}_{j\sigma} + t' \sum_{i\sigma} (\underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i-1\sigma}^{\dagger} \underline{\mathbf{n}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i+1\sigma} + h.c.), \tag{235}$$

where $\underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i\sigma}$ are correlated operators: $\underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i\sigma} = f_{i\sigma}(1 - n_{i,-\sigma})$ and $\underline{\mathbf{n}}_i = \sum_{\sigma} \underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} \underline{\mathbf{f}}_{i\sigma}$. t' given by $t' = t^2/(2J)$ is the transfer parameter of three-site terms. The basis set for this effective Hamiltonian consists of states with various spin configurations without double occupancy. Thus it is easy to check that every off-diagonal element can be non-positive where they are -t or -t'. Obviously the matrix of the Hamiltonian is irreducible since we have spin-flip processes. Hence a straightforward application of the Perron-Frobenius theorem leads to the following statement.

Theorem 4.3 Consider the Kondo lattice on a connected one-dimensional lattice with the open boundary condition. Suppose that J > 0 is antiferromagnetic. Then the spin degeneracy in the limit $J = \infty$ is lifted by the first-order perturbation in 1/J. As a result the ground state is unique and ferromagnetic with the total spin $S = (N - N_e)/2$ for $N_e < N$ if J is large enough (where N is the number of sites and N_e is the number of conduction electrons).

The localized spin forms a singlet with a conduction electron at each site and the remaining spins are in a collective ferromagnetic state. The origin of the ferromagnetism is the double exchange as is the case for J < 0. Clearly this statement is not valid for the two- or three-dimensional models.

4.4. Kondo lattice with one conduction electron

Next application of the Perron-Frobenius theorem is the Kondo lattice with one conduction electron, which is also important to clarify the ground-state phase diagram.^{112,113} It may be clear from the discussion above that the ground state has a ferromagnetic order in the limit of small carriers because of the double exchange. In fact, we can show the following proposition.¹¹⁴

Theorem 4.4 Let us consider the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian on a connected lattice given by

$$H = -\sum_{ij\sigma} t_{ij} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} + J \sum_{i} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \sigma_{i}, \qquad (236)$$

where σ_i denotes the spin operator of the conduction electron at site *i*. $t_{ij} = t > 0$ are assumed to vanish except between nearest-neighbor sites. Suppose that we have one conduction electron and we impose the open or periodic boundary

conditions. Then the ground state is unique for $J \neq 0$ (apart from the 2S + 1-fold spin degeneracy). The total spin of the ground state is given by

$$S = (N - 1)/2$$
 for $J > 0$,
 $S = (N + 1)/2$ for $J < 0$,

where N is the number of sites.

Proof First, we consider the case for J > 0 (antiferromagnetic coupling). If N is even, we work in the space $S^z = 1/2$, while if N is odd, our space has $S^z = 0$. The basis set consists of the states given as

$$\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_1,\cdots,\sigma_N) = \sigma c^{\dagger}_{j\sigma} |\sigma_1,\cdots,\sigma_N\rangle, \qquad (237)$$

where $|\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_N\rangle$ indicates the localized spin configuration. Note that a spin-down conduction electron has a negative sign attached to wave functions. The Schrödinger equation reads

$$H\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) = -\sum_{i} t_{ij}\psi(i\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) + \frac{1}{4}J\sum_{j}\sigma_{j}\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) - \frac{1}{2}J\sum_{j(\sigma\neq\sigma_{j})}\psi(j,-\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{j-1},-\sigma_{j},\sigma_{j+1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}).$$
(238)

It is straightforward to see that all the off-diagonal elements are non-positive for J > 0 and $t = t_{ij} > 0$. Since we have the spin-flip process between two localized spins within our basis set, the matrix of the Hamiltonian is shown to be irreducible. Then the lowest eigenvalue in the space $S^z = 0$ or 1/2 (i.e. the ground state ψ), is unique with a positive eigenvector.

In order to show that the ground state has the total spin S = (N - 1)/2, we construct a trial state ψ_{tri} with S = (N - 1)/2 such that $\langle \psi_{tri} | \psi \rangle \neq 0$. From the construction of basis set, the following state

$$\psi_{ferr} = \psi(1,\uparrow;\downarrow,\uparrow,\cdots,\uparrow) + \psi(1,\downarrow;\uparrow,\uparrow,\cdots,\uparrow),$$
(239)

has S = (N-1)/2 in the space with $S^z = (N-1)/2$. Then we define

$$\psi_{tri} = (S^-)^n \psi_{ferr},\tag{240}$$

where n = [(N-1)/2] (=integer part of (N-1)/2). Since ψ_{tri} is a linear combination of basis states with non-negative weights, we have $\langle \psi_{tri} | \psi \rangle \neq 0$. Hence the ground state has S = (N-1)/2.

For the ferromagnetic coupling J < 0 (which is rather obvious compared to the case J > 0), we use the following basis states:

$$\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_1,\cdots,\sigma_N) = c^{\dagger}_{j\sigma}|\sigma_1,\cdots,\sigma_N\rangle, \qquad (241)$$

with the same notation as before. The Schrödinger equation for these bases has the form

$$H\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) = -\sum_{i} t_{ij}\psi(i\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) + \frac{1}{4}J\sum_{j}\sigma\sigma_{j}\psi(j\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}) + \frac{1}{2}J\sum_{j(\sigma\neq\sigma_{j})}\psi(j,-\sigma;\sigma_{1},\cdots,\sigma_{j-1},-\sigma_{j},\sigma_{j+1},\cdots,\sigma_{N}).$$
(242)

Obviously, the argument for J > 0 applies to the present case, and therefore we have a unique ground state with the total spin S = (N + 1)/2.

4.5. Anderson lattice for $N_e = N + 1$

Let us consider the Anderson lattice model at quarter filling with one extra electron, $N_e = |\Lambda| + 1$. Let $N = |\Lambda|$. We write again the Hamiltonian:

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\sigma} n_{ci\sigma} + V \sum_{i\sigma} (c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma} + h.c.) + \epsilon_f \sum_{i\sigma} n_{fi\sigma} + U_f \sum_i n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}.$$
(243)

Here we do not include the Coulomb interactions between the conduction electrons because they are not important for our purpose. Since the Anderson (lattice) Hamiltonian is mapped onto the Kondo (lattice) Hamiltonian in the limit $\epsilon_f \to -\infty$ and $U_f \to \infty$, we can expect a ferromagnetic ground state for $N_e = N + 1$.¹¹⁵ Obviously the ground states are degenerate with respect to spin configurations in the limit $\epsilon_f \to -\infty$ (or $V \to 0$). Due to the perturbations in terms of V, the degeneracy will be partly lifted. We shall show that a first order perturbation in V lifts the degeneracy and a ferromagnetic state will be the ground state. Let us suppose that we can write the wave function in the form,

$$\psi = \psi_0 + \psi_1 + \psi_2 + \cdots.$$
 (244)

 ψ_0 is a zero-th order wave function which consists of basis states given as

$$\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}} = \sigma c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} f^{\dagger}_{1\sigma_1} f^{\dagger}_{2\sigma_2} \cdots f^{\dagger}_{N\sigma_N} |0\rangle, \qquad (245)$$

where $\{\sigma_n\}$ $(n = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ denotes a set of spin configurations of f electrons. In the subspace $\{\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}\}$, one conduction electron is moving around and we have a large spin degeneracy. The second term ψ_1 is of the order of V/ϵ_f and includes spin exchange processes between the conduction electrons and the f electrons. It is a priori not clear whether the degeneracy is lifted completely or we still have a degeneracy in the ground states. For simplicity, let us consider the lattice with open boundary conditions. We make a statement in the following form.^b

Theorem 4.5 Let us condider the Anderson lattice Hamiltonian with open boundary conditions. We assume that $N_e = N + 1$ and $U_f = \infty$. In the limit $\epsilon_f \to -\infty$, we have a degeneracy in the ground states with respect to spin configurations. The degeneracy is lifted due to the first order perturbation of the order of V/ϵ_f and then the ground state becomes unique. The ground state has the total spin S = (N-1)/2.

Proof We set $N_e = N + 1$. In the limit $\epsilon_f \to -\infty$, a wave function is written as a linear combination of the basis states $\{\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}\}$:

$$\psi_{0,\sigma,\{\sigma_n\}} = \sum_{i} a^0_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}} \psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}.$$
(246)

We have the large degeneracy with respect to $\{\sigma_n\}$ and σ . If we apply the Hamiltonian to $\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}$, we obtain

$$H\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}} = -t\sigma(c_{i+1\sigma}^{\dagger} + c_{i-1\sigma}^{\dagger})f_{1\sigma_1}^{\dagger} \cdots f_{N\sigma_N}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$$

$$+ V\sigma c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} \sum_{j} (-1)^{j-1} c_{j\sigma_j}^{\dagger} f_{1\sigma_1}^{\dagger} \cdots f_{j-1\sigma_{j-1}}^{\dagger} f_{j+1\sigma_{j+1}}^{\dagger} \cdots f_{N\sigma_N}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$$

$$+ N\epsilon_f \psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}.$$

$$(247)$$

Hence ψ_1 consists of basis states given as

$$\psi_{i\sigma,j\sigma';\{\sigma_n\}} = (-1)^j \sigma c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c^{\dagger}_{j\sigma'} f^{\dagger}_{1\sigma_1} \cdots f^{\dagger}_{j-1\sigma_{j-1}} f^{\dagger}_{j+1\sigma_{j+1}} \cdots f^{\dagger}_{N\sigma_N} |0\rangle.$$
(248)

For i = j, the above definition means

$$\begin{aligned}
\psi_{i\uparrow,i\downarrow;\{\sigma_n\}} &= \psi_{i\downarrow,i\uparrow;\{\sigma_n\}} \\
&= -(-1)^i c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow} c^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow} f^{\dagger}_{1\sigma_1} \cdots f^{\dagger}_{i-1\sigma_{i-1}} f^{\dagger}_{i+1\sigma_{i+1}} \cdots f^{\dagger}_{N\sigma_N} |0\rangle. \quad (249)
\end{aligned}$$

It is easy to see that ψ_1 is of order V/ϵ_f if we substitute $\psi = \psi_0 + \psi_1$ given as

$$\psi_0 = \sum_{i\sigma\{\sigma_n\}} a^0_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}} \psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}, \qquad (250)$$

$$\psi_1 = \sum_{i\sigma j\sigma'\{\sigma_n\}} a^1_{i\sigma j\sigma'\{\sigma_n\}} \psi_{i\sigma,j\sigma';\{\sigma_n\}}, \qquad (251)$$

into the Schrödinger equation $H\psi = E\psi$. If we apply H to ψ_1 , we have ψ_2 in which the conduction electrons excited from the f-level move to neighboring sites. However, ψ_2 is a state of the order of $(1/\epsilon_f)^2$, and we do not consider ψ_2 here.^c

$$c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{k\uparrow}^{\dagger}f_{1\sigma_{1}}^{\dagger}\cdots f_{j-1\sigma_{j-1}}^{\dagger}f_{j+1\sigma_{j+1}}^{\dagger}\cdots f_{N\sigma_{N}}^{\dagger}|0\rangle \quad (k \neq j)$$
(252)

to be 0. This means that the exchange of the conduction electrons with the same spin is not included.

 $[^]b \mathrm{We}$ thank Prof. K. Ueda for his instructive comments.

^cIn Ref.¹¹⁵, this property is not mentioned explcitly. Probably clever readers are already aware of the fact that $H\psi_1$ contains higher-order contributions. We should let the amplitude of a state such as

With this definition in mind, it is clear that off-diagonal elements due to the kinetic part of the Hamiltonian are always non-positive (-t < 0 or 0) within the subspace spanned by $\{\psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}}, \psi_{i\sigma,j\sigma';\{\sigma_n\}}\}$ for the open boundary conditions. It is also easy to obtain

$$\langle \psi_{i\sigma,j\sigma';\{\sigma_n\}} | H | \psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}} \rangle = -V \delta_{\sigma'\sigma_j} \quad (i \neq j),$$
(253)

and

$$\langle \psi_{i\uparrow,i\downarrow;\{\sigma_n\}} | H | \psi_{i\sigma;\{\sigma_n\}\rangle} = -V \delta_{-\sigma\sigma_i}.$$
(254)

These two matrices are non-positive if V > 0. Thus we have shown that all the off-diagonal elements are non-positive in our subspace. Because of the geometry of the Anderson lattice, the Hamiltonian is irreducible. Hence, according to the Perron-Frobenius theorem, the ground state is unique and is a linear combination of basis states with positive coefficients.

In order to investigate the total spin, we have only to make a trial state with the total spin S = (N-1)/2 having a non-zero inner product with the ground state ψ . One example is

$$\psi_{tr} = (S^-)^n \psi_{ferr},\tag{255}$$

where

$$\psi_{ferr} = \sum_{i} (-1)^{i-1} (c_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} f_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} - c_{i\downarrow}^{\dagger} f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger}) \prod_{j \neq i} f_{i\uparrow}^{\dagger} |0\rangle.$$
(256)

Therefore we can show that S = (N-1)/2.

A mean field theory predicts the ferromagnetic phase near quarter filling¹¹⁶ and suggests that the ferromagnetism survives in the thermodynamic limit.

4.6. 1D Kondo lattice with large Coulomb interaction U

In this section, we investigate the effect of Coulomb interaction between the conduction electrons for the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian. The importance of the Coulomb interaction is now being appreciated for rare earth compounds. The Hamiltonian is written in the form

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow} + J \sum_{i} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \sigma_{i}, \qquad (257)$$

where $\langle ij \rangle$ indicates a nearest-neighbor pair of sites and we denote $n_{i\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma}$. We assume that the lattice is one-dimensional and we denote the number of sites as N and that of conduction electrons as N_e . We have considered the Kondo lattice Hamiltonian in the Chapter **2** for the half-filled band, where antiferromagnetic correlations are proved for U > 0. However, the exchange processes of the conduction electrons are reduced by the Coulomb interaction U away from the half filling, which may change the nature of spin correlations. Let us discuss the following proposition.⁴⁶

Theorem 4.6 Assume that U is very large and $N_e < N$. Let us set the open

boundary condition. Then the ground state of the one-dimensional Kondo lattice in eq.(257) is unique and has the total spin

$$S = (N - N_e)/2 \text{ for } J > 0$$
,
 $S = (N + N_e)/2 \text{ for } J < 0.$

Proof We denote the operators of localized electrons as $f_{i\sigma}$ and $f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}$. Suppose that U is infinitely large and that J > 0. We use the following representation for the basis states:

$$\psi(\{x_j\},\{\sigma_j\};\{s_i\}) = \prod_{j=1}^{N_e} \sigma_j c_{x_j \sigma_j}^{\dagger} \prod_{j=1}^{N} f_{js_j}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$$

$$\equiv \prod_{j=1}^{N_e} \sigma_j |x_1 \sigma_1, x_2 \sigma_2, \cdots, x_{N_e} \sigma_{N_e}\rangle \otimes |s_1, \cdots, s_N\rangle,$$
(258)

where $\{x_i\}$ represent positions of the conduction electrons, $x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_{N_e}$, and $\{\sigma_i\}$ and $\{s_j\}$ denote spin configurations of the conduction and localized electrons, respectively. The wave function of this type is a generalization of that for the single-conduction electron case. Since U is infinite, an electron cannot pass through another electrons by the nearest-neighbor transfers. Then the Schrödinger equation for $\psi(\{x_i\}, \{\sigma_j\}; \{s_i\})$ reads

$$\begin{split} H\psi(\{x_j\},\{\sigma_j\};\{s_i\}) &= -t\sum_{\ell(x_\ell-1\neq x_{\ell-1})}\prod_i^{N_e}\sigma_i\\ &\times |x_1\sigma_1,\cdots,x_{\ell-1}\sigma_{\ell-1},x_\ell-1\sigma_\ell,x_{\ell+1}\sigma_{\ell+1},\cdots,x_{N_e}\sigma_{N_e}\rangle\\ &\otimes |s_1\cdots s_N\rangle\\ &- t\sum_{\ell(x_\ell+1\neq x_{\ell+1})}\prod_i^{N_e}\sigma_i\\ &\times |x_1\sigma_1,\cdots,x_{\ell-1}\sigma_{\ell-1},x_\ell+1\sigma_\ell,x_{\ell+1}\sigma_{\ell+1},\cdots,x_{N_e}\sigma_{N_e}\rangle\\ &\otimes |s_1\cdots s_N\rangle\\ &+ \frac{J}{2}\sum_{\ell,j(x_\ell=j,\sigma_\ell=-s_j)}\prod_i^{N_e}\sigma_i\\ &\times |x_1\sigma_1,\cdots,x_{\ell-1}\sigma_{\ell-1},x_\ell-\sigma_\ell,x_{\ell+1}\sigma_{\ell+1},\cdots,x_{N_e}\sigma_{N_e}\rangle\\ &\otimes |s_1\cdots s_{j-1},-s_j,s_{j+1},\cdots,s_N\rangle\\ &+ (diagonal\ terms)\\ &= (hopping\ terms)\\ &- \frac{J}{2}\sum_{\ell,j(x_\ell=j,\sigma_\ell=-s_j)}\psi(\{x_i\},\{\sigma_1,\cdots,\sigma_\ell,\sigma_{\ell+1},\cdots,\sigma_\ell,\sigma_{\ell+1},\cdots,\sigma_\ell,\sigma_\ell\}) \end{split}$$

$$\cdots, \sigma_{N_e} \}; \{s_1 \cdots s_{j-1}, -s_j, s_{j+1}, \cdots, s_N\})$$

+ (diagonal terms). (259)

Obviously, the matrix elements due to the hopping terms and exchange interactions are non-positive (if t > 0 and J > 0). The matrix of the Hamiltonian is shown to be irreducible, for instance, in a similar manner to the double exchange model in the section **4.2**.¹¹¹ Therefore the Perron-Frobenius theorem implies that the ground state is unique.

To show that the ground state has the total spin $S = (N - N_e)/2$ for J > 0, we consider the following state

$$\psi_{tri} = \prod_{j=1}^{N_e} (c^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow} f^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} - c^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} f^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow}) (S^-)^n \prod_{i=N_e+1}^{N} f^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow} |0\rangle.$$
(260)

We can check that ψ_{tri} has a non-zero inner product with the ground state. Hence $S = (N - N_e)/2$.

For J < 0 (ferromagnetic case), the basis states are written in the form

$$\psi(\{x_j\},\{\sigma_j\};\{s_i\}) = \prod_{j=1}^{N_e} c_{x_j\sigma_j}^{\dagger} \prod_{j=1}^{N} f_{js_j}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$$
$$\equiv \prod_{j=1}^{N_e} |x_1\sigma_1, x_2\sigma_2, \cdots, x_{N_e}\sigma_{N_e}\rangle \otimes |s_1, \cdots, s_N\rangle. \quad (261)$$

Similarly, we can show that the ground state has $S = (N + N_e)/2$.

We can say that this is the ferromagnetism due to the double exchange interaction. The above proposition indicates an example of the ferromagnetism induced by the Coulomb repulsion. In particular, a *metallic complete ferromagnetic state* is realized for J < 0. For a possible phase diagram of the 1D Kondo lattice with U > 0, see Ref.⁴⁶.

Now let us turn to the model where all the off-diagonal elements are non-positive and the Hamiltonian is, however, not (proved to be) irreducible. An example of such a model is given by the one-diemnsional Kondo Hamiltonian with two localized spins. We impose the open boundary condition for $N_e < N$. Suppose that the Coulomb repulsion U between the conduction electrons is very large, then the Hamiltonian has non-positive off-diagonal elements. Since we cannot show that the Hamiltonian is irreducible, we apply the Perron-Frobenius theorem for the general case to the two-impurity Kondo model. As a result, among the ground states there is one with a non-negative eigenvector. This eigenstate contains a ferromagnetic order, in which two localized spins show a parallel correlation.

4.7. Nagaoka ferromagnetism

A possible ferromagnetic state near half filling was pointed out by Nagaoka and Thouless.^{117,118} This famous Nagaoka state can be recognized as an application of

the Perron-Frobenius theorem.¹¹⁹ The Hamiltonian is given by the Hubbard model:

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow}, \qquad (262)$$

where $n_{i\sigma} = c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{i\sigma}$. We denote the number of sites and electrons as N and N_e , respectively. Nagaoka proved the following statement.

Theorem 4.7(Nagaoka) Assume that t_{ij} is nonvanishing only between nearestneighbor sites, which is denoted by t. The crystal structure is simple cubic, bodycentered cubic, face centered cubic, or hexagonal closed packed. Then the ferromagnetic state with the maximum total spin is the ground state of the system for $N_e = N - 1, U = \infty$, and t > 0.

Remark The ferromagnetic state is given by filling up the band for up electrons except one level at the band top. This state has

$$S = S_{max} = \frac{1}{2}N_e, \quad S^z = \pm S,$$
 (263)

$$E = -zt, (264)$$

where z is the number of nearest-neighbor sites. The lattice structures mentioned above have the property that the Hamiltonian corresponding to a given lattice is irreducible. Let us consider the three-site ring with two electrons: $d_1(\uparrow)d_2(\downarrow)d_3(-)$. If a hole goes around a loop, we obtain $d_1(\downarrow)d_2(\uparrow)d_3(-)$. Thus two electrons with antiparallel spins are exchanged. It is also easy to see that we can rearrange spins in the four-site ring from one configuratin to another for any numbers of up- and down-spin electrons. (Note that this is not possible for the five-site ring.) Then by the induction the irreducibility of the Hamiltonian is proved, i.e. any two states in the basis set is connected by the succesive application of the Hamiltonian.¹¹⁷ *Proof* We use the representation of basis states given by Nagaoka:

$$\psi_{i\alpha_i} = (-1)^i c_{1\sigma_1}^{\dagger} c_{2\sigma_2}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{i-1\sigma_{i-1}}^{\dagger} c_{i+1\sigma_{i+1}}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{N\sigma_N}^{\dagger} |0\rangle, \qquad (265)$$

where α_i denotes the set $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_{i-1}, \sigma_{i+1}, \dots, \sigma_N)$ and $|0\rangle$ is the vacuum state. We can work in the space with fixed S^z . Then the Schrödinger equation is written in the form:

$$H\psi_{i\alpha_{i}} = \sum_{j} t_{ij}(-1)^{2i-j-1} c_{1\sigma_{1}}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{j-1\sigma_{j-1}}^{\dagger} c_{j+1\sigma_{j+1}}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{N\sigma_{N}}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$$

$$= -\sum_{j} t_{ij} \psi_{j\alpha_{j}}.$$
 (266)

Hence the off-diagonal elements are non-positive. As we have noted before that the Hamiltonian is irreducible, the straightforward application of the Perron-Frobenius theorem states that the ground state is unique and given by a linear combination of all the states $\psi_{i\alpha_i}$ with positive amplitudes in the space $S^z = 0$ or 1/2. From the definition of basis states, the ground state has S = (N - 1)/2.

Remark Since the square cubic (sc) and the body-centered cubic (bcc) with nearestneighbor hoppings are bipartite, we can change t into -t by attaching (-1) to wavefunctions on the B sublattice. Hence

Corollary The ground state for sc and bcc has the maximum total spin for $N_e = N - 1$, $U = \infty$, and $t = t_{ij} < 0$.

An extension of the Nagaoka's theorem is possible where the restriction on the lattice can be relaxed.¹¹⁹ Let us give a definition and theorems.

Definition A finite lattice Λ is said to be irreducible with respect to $\{t_{ij}\}$ if the Hamiltonian corresponding to Λ is irreducible in each sector with fixed $S^{z,d}$

Theorem 4.8 Let us consider the Hubbard model in eq.(262) with $\{t_{ij} \geq 0\}$, $U = \infty$, and $N_e = N - 1$. Then there exist at least N states with S = (N - 1)/2.

Theorem 4.9 Consider the Hubbard model in eq.(262) with $\{t_{ij} \ge 0\}, U = \infty$, and $N_e = N-1$. Let us further assume that the lattice Λ is irreducible. Then the ground state is unique apart from the trivial N-fold degeneracy and has S = (N-1)/2.

Theorem 4.8 is proved by the Perron-Frobenius theorem for the general case. A set of the lattices mentioned in *Theorem 4.9* include the lattice sturctures in *Theorem* 4.7, the triangular lattice and the lattices which consist of three-site loops and foursite loops. It is not clear whether the crystal of C_{60} is irreducible or not since C_{60} has five-site loops and six-site loops. It is impossible to generalize the statement for more than one hole. The ferromagnetism near half filling in the thermodynamic limit has been investigated by many authors^{120,121,122,123,124,125,126} being a hot topic in strongly-correlated electrons. For the one-dimensional chain, the ferromagnetic state is among the ground states and is not necessarily unique.

4.8. A zigzag Anderson lattice: $N_e \leq N$

For the one-dimensional Hubbard model, the ground states are degenerate with respect to spin configurations for $U = \infty$. This degeneracy is easily lifted toward the ferromagnetic state by the hybridization with the higher-energy levels, which is examined in this section.¹²⁷ Our Hamiltonian is the Anderson lattice model given as

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U_c \sum_{i} n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + \Delta \sum_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma}$$

^dWe use the terminology *irreducible* inplace of *connected* since we have used *connected* in the Chapter **2**.

+
$$V \sum_{i\sigma} [f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}(c_{i\sigma} + c_{i+1\sigma}) + h.c.] + U_f \sum_i n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow},$$
 (267)

where U_c and U_f denote the strength of Coulomb interactions among the conduction electrons and f electrons, respectively, and the level of f electrons is denoted by Δ . Other notations are standard for the Anderson model. We call this model the zigzag Anderson lattice here. The hopping parameters t_{ij} are non-zero between nearestneighbor sites and assumed to be positive $t = t_{ij} > 0$. An extension to the two or three dimensional cases is straightforward. For the two-dimensional space, the Hamiltonian is written as

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U_c \sum_i n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + \Delta \sum_{i\mu(=x,y)\sigma} f_{i+\frac{1}{2}\mu\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i+\frac{1}{2}\mu\sigma}$$
$$+ V \sum_{i\mu\sigma} [f_{i+\frac{1}{2}\mu\sigma}^{\dagger} (c_{i\sigma} + c_{i+\mu\sigma}) + h.c.] + U_f \sum_{i\mu} n_{fi+\frac{1}{2}\mu\uparrow} n_{f1+\frac{1}{2}\mu\downarrow}, \quad (268)$$

where μ denotes a unit vector in the x and y directions. Let us consider the case in which $\Delta \gg t$ and $0 < V/\Delta \ll 1$. We suppose that U_c and U_f are large. Then in the limit $V/\Delta \rightarrow 0$, the ground states are highly degenerate. Our purpose is to show that the degeneracy is lifted toward the ferromagnetic state by a perturbation in V/Δ . We use the following representation for the basis states up to the order of V/Δ :

$$\psi^0(\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_N) = c^{\dagger}_{1\sigma_1}c^{\dagger}_{2\sigma_2}\cdots c^{\dagger}_{N\sigma_N}|0\rangle, \qquad (269)$$

$$\psi^{1}(i\sigma;\sigma_{1}\cdots\sigma_{i-1}\sigma_{i+1}\cdots\sigma_{N}) = (-1)c_{1\sigma_{1}}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i-1\sigma_{i-1}}^{\dagger}f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{i+1\sigma_{i+1}}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{N\sigma_{N}}^{\dagger}|0\rangle, \quad (270)$$

$$\psi^{1}(i\sigma;\sigma_{1}\cdots\sigma_{i}\sigma_{i+2}\cdots\sigma_{N}) = (-1)c_{1\sigma_{1}}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i\sigma_{i}}^{\dagger}f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger}c_{i+2\sigma_{i+2}}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{N\sigma_{N}}^{\dagger}|0\rangle.$$
(271)

The ground state wavefunction is a linear combination of these bases. The matrix elements are given by

$$\langle \psi^1(i\sigma;\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_{i-1}\sigma_{i+1}\cdots\sigma_N)|H|\psi^0(\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_N)\rangle = -V\delta_{\sigma\sigma_i},\qquad(272)$$

$$\langle \psi^1(i-1\sigma;\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_{i-1}\sigma_{i+1}\cdots\sigma_N)|H|\psi^0(\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_N)\rangle = -V\delta_{\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}},\tag{273}$$

$$\langle \psi^1(i\sigma;\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_i\sigma_{i+2}\cdots\sigma_N)|H|\psi^1(i\sigma;\sigma_1\cdots\sigma_{i-1}\sigma_{i+1}\cdots\sigma_N)\rangle = -t\delta_{\sigma_i\sigma_{i+1}}.$$
 (274)

Then the matrix is non-positive (for V > 0 and t > 0) in our basis set and is shown to be irreducible because we have spin-flip processes between nearest-neighbor sites. In summary we can say:

Theorem 4.10 Consider the zigzag Anderson lattice in eq.(267) at quarter filling $N_e = N$. Let us assume that U_c and U_f are infinitely large and the hopping parameters t_{ij} are non-zero and positive only between nearest-neighbor sites. Assume further that V > 0, $\Delta > 0$, $V/\Delta \ll 1$ and $t/\Delta \ll 1$ (for $t = t_{ij} > 0$). Then the ground state has the maximum total spin $S = N_e/2$.

If we restrict ourselves to the one-dimensional space, we can expect the ferromagnetism for less than quarter filling.¹²⁷ Let us examine this case. The basis set is composed of states which are up to the order of V/Δ . In the limit $V/\Delta = 0$, our representation is an extension of that given by Nagaoka:

$$\psi^0(i_1\sigma_1,\dots,i_n\sigma_n) = (-1)^{i_1+\dots+i_n} c^{\dagger}_{i_1\sigma_1} c^{\dagger}_{i_2\sigma_2} \cdots c^{\dagger}_{i_n\sigma_n} |0\rangle,$$
(275)

where $n = N_e$. In the subspace spanned by the states $\psi^0(i_1\sigma_1, \dots, i_n\sigma_n)$, we have

$$H\psi^{0}(i_{1}\sigma_{1},\cdots,i_{n}\sigma_{n}) = -t\sum_{j(i_{j-1}\neq i_{j}-1)}\psi^{0}(i_{1}\sigma_{1},\cdots,i_{j-1}\sigma_{j-1},i_{j}-1\sigma_{j},$$

$$i_{j+1}\sigma_{j+1}, \quad \cdots,i_{n}\sigma_{n})$$

$$-t \sum_{j(i_{j+1}\neq i_{j}+1)}\psi^{0}(i_{1}\sigma_{1},\cdots,i_{j-1}\sigma_{j-1},i_{j}+1\sigma_{j},$$

$$i_{j+1}\sigma_{j+1}, \quad \cdots,i_{n}\sigma_{n}).$$
(276)

Here the non-zero matrix elements are negative -t < 0. In the order of V/Δ we should consider the following two processes:

$$s_{i}(\sigma)d_{i}(-)s_{i+1}(\sigma') \rightarrow s_{i}(\sigma)d_{i}(\sigma')s_{i+1}(-) \rightarrow s_{i}(-)d_{i}(\sigma')s_{i+1}(\sigma)$$

$$\rightarrow s_{i}(\sigma')d_{i}(-)s_{i+1}(\sigma),$$

$$s_{i}(-)d_{i}(-)s_{i+1}(\sigma) \rightarrow s_{i}(-)d_{i}(\sigma)s_{i+1}(-) \rightarrow s_{i}(\sigma)d_{i}(-)s_{i+1}(-)$$

$$\rightarrow s_{i}(-)d_{i}(-)s_{i+1}(\sigma).$$

The former can be taken into account with the non-positive matrix elements by using the Nagaoka representation for the basis states as in eqs.(270) and (271). The latter process gives rise to positive matrix elements which may cause a mismatch in the proof. However, this process contributes to give an effective transfer term without producing any effects on the spin configurations, which means that the spin-flip processes are not accompanied. If $t \gg V^2/\Delta$ (or $t \gg V$), we can neglect it since $V/\Delta \cdot V/t$ is much smaller than $1.^e$ Therefore we can say in the following way (although it is not perfectly mathematical which means that the Hamiltonian is nearly non-positive):

Theorem 4.11 We consider the one-dimensional zigzag Anderson lattice Hamiltonian for $N_e \leq N$ with same conditions stated in *Theorem 4.10*. Suppose further that $t \gg V^2/\Delta$ and impose the open boundary condition. Then the ground state has the maximum total spin $S = N_e/2$.

We can modify the structure of hybridizations so that the ground state remains ferromagnetic at quarter filling $N_e = N$. For instance one can consider the Anderson

^eThis kind of argument can be applied to the Anderson lattice for $N_e = N + 1$ in the section **4.5**. The basis states of type in eq.(252) produce the exchange of electrons with the same spin and then we have positive matrix elements which cannot be removed. However, these contributions make no effects on the spin configurations of other electrons, leading to an effective hybridization. Hence we can again neglect the basis states in eq.(252) if $|V/\epsilon_f| \ll 1$ and $|t/\epsilon_f| \ll 1$.

lattice with 'mountain structure' given as

$$H = \sum_{ij} t_{ij} c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} + U_c \sum_i n_{ci\uparrow} n_{ci\downarrow} + \Delta \sum_{i\sigma} f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} f_{i\sigma} + V \sum_{i\sigma} [f_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} (c_{i-1\sigma} + c_{i\sigma} + c_{i+1\sigma}) + h.c.] + U_f \sum_i n_{fi\uparrow} n_{fi\downarrow}.$$
 (277)

Other extensions may be possible.

4.9. 1D Hubbard model

Because of the restricted geometry of the one-dimensional models, it is shown that the ground state of some 1D models is a singlet for an even number of electrons for the appropriate boundary conditions. Lieb and Mattis have shown that the ground state is a singlet for the interactions of diagonal type.¹²⁸ In this section we shall consider the one-dimensional Hubbard model and the t-J model from the viewpoint of the Perron-Frobenius theorem.¹²⁹ The Hamiltonian is given by

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} + U \sum_{i} n_{i\uparrow} n_{i\downarrow} + J \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{j}, \qquad (278)$$

where $\langle ij \rangle$ indicates nearest-neighbor sites on a one-dimensional chain and we assume that t > 0 and $J \ge 0$. Let us investigate the following proposition.

Theorem 4.12 The ground state of the Hamiltonian (278) is unique and a singlet for an even number of electrons in the following cases for t > 0 and $J \ge 0$.

(1) $N_e = 4m + 2$ (m=integer) for the periodic boundary condition or the open boundary condition.

(2) $N_e = 4m$ for the antiperiodic boundary condition or the open boundary condition.

(We exclude the case in which $U = \infty$ and J = 0.)

Proof We can work in each sector with fixed S^z . For simplicity let us work in the subspace with $S^z = 0$. It is convenient to use the representation for the basis states by Lieb:⁴⁸

$$\psi_{\alpha\beta} = \psi_{\alpha}^{\dagger} \otimes \psi_{\beta}^{\downarrow}$$

= $c_{i_{1}\uparrow}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{i_{n}\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{j_{1}\downarrow}^{\dagger} \cdots c_{j_{n}\downarrow}^{\dagger} |0\rangle,$ (279)

where $n = N_e/2$, and $\alpha = (i_1 \cdots i_n)$ and $\beta = (j_1 \cdots j_n)$ indicate the locations of electrons in the real space for $i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_n$ and $j_1 < j_2 < \cdots < j_n$. Obviously, all the off-diagonal matrix elements due to electron hoppings are nonpositive -t < 0. It is also easy to see that the off-diagonal elements due to the nearest-neighbor exchange interaction are non-positive. For instance, when we can exchange the up-spin electron at site i_m and the down-spin electron at site j_ℓ , we obtain

$$S_{i_{m}}^{-}S_{j_{\ell}}^{+} \quad c_{i_{1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i_{n}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{j_{n}\downarrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$$

$$= c_{i_{1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i_{m-1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{i_{m}\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{i_{m+1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i_{n}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{j_{\ell-1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{\ell}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{\ell+1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{j_{n}\downarrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$$

$$= -c_{i_{1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i_{m-1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{i_{\ell}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{i_{m+1}\uparrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{i_{n}\uparrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{j_{\ell-1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{m}\downarrow}^{\dagger}c_{j_{\ell+1}\downarrow}^{\dagger}\cdots c_{j_{n}\downarrow}^{\dagger}|0\rangle.$$

$$(280)$$

The boundary conditions depend upon the number of electrons so that the matrix elements are non-positive. It is clear that the Hamiltonian is irreducible except the case in which $U = \infty$ and J = 0. Therefore the Perron-Frobenius theorem indicates that the ground state is unique and is continuous with respect to U and $J \ge 0$. The ground state is a singlet since it is connected to the non-interacting case where U = 0 and J = 0. \Box

As is shown in *Theorem 4.12* the ground state has definite signs in a linear combination of basis states, which makes the one-dimensional systems tractable by analytical and numerical methods.

Lastly, we consider an unrealistic model which means the 1D t-J model with the ferromagnetic interaction J < 0:

$$H = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle \sigma} (1 - n_{i,-\sigma}) c_{i\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{j\sigma} (1 - n_{j,-\sigma}) + J \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} \mathbf{S}_i \cdot \mathbf{S}_j.$$
(281)

If we use the basis states given by

$$\psi(i_1\sigma_1,\cdots,i_n\sigma_n) = c^{\dagger}_{i_1\sigma_1}c^{\dagger}_{i_2\sigma_2}\cdots c^{\dagger}_{i_n\sigma_n}|0\rangle, \qquad (282)$$

where $n = N_e$, all the off-diagonal elements are non-positive for t > 0 and J < 0if we impose appropriate boundary conditions. Hence we can show in a similar way that the ground state has the maximum total spin. If we make the electronhole transformation for the down-spin electrons in the ferromagnetic t-J model in eq.(281), we can obtain the Hamiltonian which exhibits exactly a superconducing ground state. Let us consider a 'correlated hopping' Hubbard model with the attractive interaction given as⁸⁸

$$\tilde{H} = -t \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} [n_{i\downarrow} c^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow} c_{j\downarrow} n_{j\downarrow} + (1 - n_{i\uparrow}) c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow} (1 - n_{j\uparrow})]
- t_p \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} (c^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow} c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow} c_{j\downarrow} c_{j\uparrow} + c^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow} c^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} c_{i\downarrow} c_{i\uparrow})
+ V \sum_{\langle ij \rangle} n_i n_j - \epsilon_0 \sum_{i\sigma} n_{i\sigma} + const,$$
(283)

where $t_p = -J/2$, V = J/4 and $\epsilon_0 = J/2$. The up-spin electrons should be accompanied with the down-spin electrons in this Hamiltonian. Since \mathbf{S}^2 and S^z commute with H, the η -spin operators \mathbf{J}^2 and J^z commute with \tilde{H} . Let N_e and N be the number of electrons and that of sites, respectively. Suppose that we work in the space with $S^z = 0$ (S^z commutes with \tilde{H}). According to the partial electron-hole transformation, J is transformed to S and we have

$$J = N_e/2 = N/2, \quad J^z = (N_e - N)/2.$$
 (284)

Hence there is ODLRO because of *Theorem 2.13*. Note that the ground state has the same quantum numbers of J and J^z as the Yang's η -paring state. In fact, the ground state of \tilde{H} is given by

$$\psi_{\eta} = A(J^{+})^{N_{e}/2}|0\rangle, \qquad (285)$$

because the ferromagnetic ground state for H in eq.(281)

$$\psi_{ferr} = A(S^+)^{N_e/2} |\downarrow\downarrow\cdots\downarrow\rangle \tag{286}$$

is transformed to the η -paring state ψ_{η} . A class of the attractive Hubbard models for which the ground state is given by the Yang's state has been investigated in Refs.^{130,131}.

5. Concluding remarks

We have discussed the applications of the reflection positivity in the spin space and the Perron-Frobenius theorem. The reflection positivity in the spin space is intrinsic for the Heisenberg model, the Hubbard model and the Kondo lattice at half filling. The reflection positivity in the spin space means that the matrix representation of the ground state eigenfunction is positive definite. One may wonder why this property is called the reflection positivity. In order to answer this question, let us examine the reflection positivity in field theory.^{50,132,133,134} We denote a set of basis states with spin- σ electrons as X^{σ} which are finite-dimensional vector spaces. We denote a set of linear transformations on X^{σ} as A_{σ} , which are represented as matrices. We write $A = A_{\uparrow} + A_{\downarrow}$. A can be regarded as C^* -algebra¹³⁵ with the standard operator norm^f

$$||M|| = \sup\{||Mu||; u \in X^{\sigma}, ||u|| = 1\} \quad (M \in A_{\sigma}).$$
(287)

(1) $X^* = X$, (2) $(XY)^* = Y^*X^*$, (3) $(\alpha X + \beta Y)^* = \alpha^*X^* + \beta^*Y^*$.

^{*f*}A C^* -algebra is an algebra which has the algebraic structure of bounded operators acting on a Hilbert space. A vector space A with coefficient field **C** (the field of complex numbers) is called *-algebra if A is a ring and a mapping (called an involution) $X \in A \to X^* \in A$ is defined with the properties:

The algebra A is called normed algebra if we can associate a real number ||X|| to each element $X \in A$, satisfying the criterions of norm. A normed algebra A with involution is a Banach *-algebra if A is complete and has the property $||X|| = ||X^*||$. A Banach*-algebra is called a C^* -algebra if $||X^*X|| = ||X||^2$ holds for all $X \in A$.

Suppose that there is a one to one and continuous map $\theta: A_{\uparrow} \to A_{\downarrow}$ such that

$$\theta(M+N) = \theta(M) + \theta(N), \qquad (288)$$

$$\theta(\alpha M) = \alpha^* \theta(M), \tag{289}$$

for $M, N \in A_{\uparrow}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. α^* denotes its complex conjugate. Let us denote a linear functional on A as $\langle \cdot \rangle$. Then we can define the reflection positivity in the following way:^{132,133,134}

Definition Let A be a C^* -algebra with an identity and A_{\pm} be subalgebras of A. Suppose that there is a one to one and continuous map $\theta : A_{\pm} \to A_{\pm}$ such that

$$\langle \theta(M)M \rangle \ge 0 \quad (\forall M \in A_+).$$
 (290)

Then $\langle \cdot \rangle$ is said to be reflection positive with respect to θ .

We define the functional $\langle \cdot \rangle$ as

$$\langle F \rangle = TrF \quad (F \in A). \tag{291}$$

When the number of spin-up electrons is equal to that of spin-down electrons, A_{\uparrow} and A_{\downarrow} are identical as sets. If we define θ as $\theta(M) = I_{\downarrow\uparrow}M^{\dagger}I_{\uparrow\downarrow}$ $(M \in A_{\uparrow})$, we obtain

$$\langle \theta(M)M\rangle = TrM^{\dagger}M \ge 0, \tag{292}$$

 $I_{\sigma,-\sigma}$ are identity mapping $A_{-\sigma} \to A_{\sigma}$ for $\sigma = \uparrow$ or \downarrow . Thus $\langle \cdot \rangle$ is reflection positive with respect to $\theta(M) = M^{\dagger}$. This is a trivial example. Let us investigate the reflection positivity with respect to the ground state. As is shown in the section **2.1**, the eigenfunction can be regarded as a mapping

$$C: X^{\downarrow} \to X^{\uparrow}, \tag{293}$$

if we write the eigenfunction in the form $\psi = \sum_{\alpha\beta} C_{\alpha\beta} \psi_{\alpha\beta}$. Then we can define the following θ :

$$\theta(M) = C^{\dagger} M^{\dagger} C \quad (M \in A_{\uparrow}).$$
(294)

If C is hermitian and positive definite, θ is one to one (injective).^g For positive definite C, $\langle \theta(M)M \rangle = TrC^{\dagger}M^{\dagger}CM \geq 0$, i.e. $\langle \cdot \rangle$ is reflection positive with respect to θ in eq.(294).^{hi} Hence we can say that the ground state has reflection positivity if the coefficient matrix C of the ground state is positive definite.

The second part of this paper has been devoted to discuss the applications of the Perron-Frobenius theorem which has a long history since the work by Lieb and Mattis. Theory of irreducible non-negative matrices was developed to be a beautiful

^gSince C has inverse C^{-1} , $\theta(M) = 0$ implies M = 0, i.e. Ker $\theta = \{0\}$.

^hStrictly speaking, we should identify $M \in A_{\uparrow}$ with $M \in A_{\downarrow}$ if we compare $\langle \theta(M)M \rangle$ with the energy eq.(18).

 $^{{}^{}i}\theta$ in eq.(294) is not morphism, i.e. $\theta(MN) = \theta(M)\theta(N)$ does not hold.

theory. The Perron-Frobenius theorem indicates that the ground state eigenfunction has no nodes and thus in most cases this theorem predicts ferromagnetic ground states.

Acknowledgments

The author expresses his sincere thanks to Y. Shimoi, K. Harigaya, K. Yamaji, S. Abe and Y. Asai for fruitful discussions. He thanks D. Vollhardt, W. Metzner, M. Kollar, J. Zittartz, E. Müller-Hartmann, A. Klümpler, J. Suzuki and P. Fulde for their comments.

References

- 1. G.R. Stewart, Rev. Mod. Phys. 56, 755 (1984).
- P.A. Lee, T.M. Rice, J.W. Serene, L.J. Sham, and J.W. Wilkins, Comments Condens. Matter Phys. 12, 99 (1986).
- 3. H.R. Ott, Prog. Low Temp. Phys. 11, 215 (1987)
- 4. J.G. Bednorz and K.A. Müller, Z. Phys. B64, 189 (1986).
- 5. J. Hubbard, Proc. Roy. Soc. A276, 238 (1963); A277, 237 (1964); A281, 401 (1964).
- 6. M.C. Gutzwiller, Phys. Rev. Lett. 10, 159 (1963).
- 7. J. Kanamori, Prog. Theor. Phys. 30, 275 (1963).
- 8. P.W. Anderson, Science 235, 1196 (1987).
- 9. V.J. Emery, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 2794 (1987).
- P.W. Anderson, in Frontiers and Borderlines in Many Particle Physics (North Holland, 1988), p.1.
- 11. H. Bethe, Z. Phys. **71**, 205 (1931).
- 12. C.N. Yang, Pys. Rev. Lett. 19, 1312 (1967).
- 13. E.H. Lieb and F.Y. Wu, Phys. Rev. Lett. **20**, 1445 (1968).
- 14. H.J. Schulz, Phys. Rev. Lett. **64**, 2831 (1990).
- 15. N. Kawakami and S.K. Yang, Phys. Lett. A148, 359 (1990).
- 16. H. Frahm and V.E. Korepin, Phys. Rev. B42, 10553 (1990).
- 17. J. Solyom, Adv. Phys. 28, 201 (1979).
- 18. V.J. Emery, in *Highly Conducting One-Dimensional Solids* (Plenum, 1979).
- 19. F.D.M. Haldane, J. Phys. C14, 2585 (1981).
- 20. N.F. Mott, Metal-Insulator Transitions (Taylor and Francis, London, 1974).
- 21. D.C. Mattis, The Theory of Magnetism I (Springer, Berlin, 1981).
- 22. E. Dagotto, Rev. Mod. Phys. 66, 763 (1994).
- 23. J. Hertz, Phys. Rev. B14,1165 (1976).
- 24. A. J. Millis, Phys. Rev. B48, 7183 (1993)
- 25. H. v. Löhneysen et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 3262 (1994).
- 26. S. R. Julian et al., J. Phys. Cond. Matter 8, 9675 (1996).
- 27. J. Kondo, Prog. Theor. Phys. **32**, 37 (1964).
- 28. J. Kondo, Solid State Physics 23, 183 (1969).
- 29. M.A. Ruderman and C. Kittel, Phys. Rev. 96, 99 (1954).
- 30. T. Kasuya, Prog. Theor. Phys. 16, 45 (1956).
- 31. K. Yosida, Phys. Rev. **147**, 223 (1966).
- 32. F. Steglich et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 43, 1892 (1979).
- J. Beille, M.B. Maple, J. Wittig, Z. Fisk and L.E. DeLong, Phys. Rev. B28, 7397 (1983).
- 34. T. Kasuya, Europhys. Lett. 26, 277 (1994).

- J.C. Cooley, M.C. Aronson, Z. Fisk, and P.C. Canfield, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 1629 (1995).
- M. Kasaya, F. Iga, M. Takabatake, and T. Kasuya, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 47-48, 429 (1985).
- 37. N. F. Mott, Phil. Mag. 30, 403 (1974).
- 38. M. Guerrero and C. Yu, cond-mat 9503006.
- T. Takabatake, F. Teshima, H. Fujii, S. Nishigori, T. Suzuki, T. Fujita, Y. Yamaguchi, J. Sakurai and D. Jaccard, Phys. Rev. B41, 9607 (1990).
- 40. S.K. Malik and D.T. Adroja, Phys. Rev. B43, 6277 (1991).
- 41. P. Bonville, A. Ochiai, T. Suzuki, and E. Vincent, J. Phys. I France, 4, 595 (1994).
- 42. P. Fulde, B. Schmidt, and P. Thalmeier, Europhys. Lett. 31, 5 (1995).
- 43. S. Blawid, H.A. Tuan, T. Yanagisawa and P. Fulde, Phys. Rev. B54, 7771 (1996).
- 44. T. Brugger, T. Schreiner, G. Roth, P. Adelmann, and G. Czjzek, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 2481 (1993).
- 45. T. Schork and P. Fulde, Phys. Rev. B50, 1345 (1994).
- 46. T. Yanagisawa and K. Harigaya, Phys. Rev. B50, 9577 (1994).
- 47. N. Shibata, T. Nishino, K. Ueda and C. Ishii, preprint (1996).
- 48. E.H. Lieb, Phys. Rev. Lett. 61, 1201 (1989)
- 49. T. Kennedy, E.H. Leb, and B.S. Shastry, J. Stat. Phys, 53, 1019 (1988).
- 50. J. Glimm and A. Jaffe, Quantum Physics (Springer-Verlag, 1987).
- 51. A.B. Harris and R.V. Lange, Phys. Rev. 157, 295 (1967).
- 52. P.W. Anderson, Phys. Rev. **124**, 41 (1961).
- A.C. Hewson, *The Kondo Problem to Heavy Fermions* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1993).
- 54. J.R. Schrieffer and P.A. Wolff, Phys. Rev. 149, 491 (1966).
- 55. H. Shiba, Prog. Theor. Phys. 48, 217 (1972).
- 56. Y. Nagaoka, Prog. Theor. Phys. 52, 1716 (1974).
- 57. E.H. Lieb and D.C. Mattis, J. Math. Phys. 3, 749 (1962).
- 58. K. Ueda, H. Tsunetsugu, and M. Sigrist, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 1030 (1992).
- R. Blankenbecler, J.R. Fulco, W. Gill and D.J. Scalapino, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 411 (1987).
- 60. R.M. Fye, Phys. Rev. B41, 2490 (1990).
- 61. C.C. Yu and S.R. White, Phys. Rev. Lett. **71**, 3866 (1993).
- 62. T. Nishino and K. Ueda, Phys. Rev. B47, 12451 (1993).
- 63. T.M. Rice and K. Ueda, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55, 995 (1985); ibid 55, 2093 (E) (1985).
- 64. H. Shiba, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 55, 2765 (1986).
- 65. C.M. Varma, W. Weber, and L.J. Randall, Phys. Rev. B33, 1015 (1986).
- 66. P. Fazekas, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 47/48, 375 (1985); ibid 63/64, 545 (1987).
- 67. A. Oguchi, Prog. Theor. Phys. 77, 278 (1987).
- 68. V.Z. Vulovic and E. Abrahams, Phys. Rev. B36, 2614 (1987).
- 69. B.H. Brandow and P. Fazekas, Phys. Scr. 36, 809 (1987).
- 70. T. Yanagisawa, Phys. Rev. B37, 2050 (1988); ibid B38, 9099(1988).
- P. Fazekas, in *Recent Progress in Many-Body Theories* Vol.1 edited by A.J. Kallio, E. Pajanne and R.F. Bishop (Plenum Press, New York, 1988).
- 72. H. Shiba and P. Fazekas, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 101, 403 (1990).
- 73. P. Fulde, J.Keller, and G. Zwicknagel, Solid State Physics 41, 1 (1988).
- C. Jayaprakash, H.R. Krishna-murthy, and J.W. Wilkins, Phys. Rev. Lett. 47, 737 (1981).
- 75. R.M. Jones and C.M. Varma, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58, 843 (1987).
- 76. R.M. Fye, J.E. Hirsch, and D.J. Scalapino, Phys. Rev. B35, 4901 (1987).
- 77. B.A. Jones, C.M. Varma, and J.W. Wilkins, Phys. Rev. Lett. 61, 125 (1988).

- 78. R.M. Fye and J.E. Hirsch, Phys. Rev. B40, 4780 (1989)
- 79. O. Sakai, Y. Shimizu, and T. Kasuya, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 61, 2333 (1992).
- 80. T. Yanagisawa, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 60, 29 (1991); ibid 60, 3449 (1991).
- 81. T. Saso, Phys. Rev. B44, 450 (1991).
- 82. L.C. Andreani and H. Beck, Phys. Rev. B48, 7322 (1993).
- 83. T. Yanagisawa, unpublished.
- 84. T. Yanagisawa and Y. Shimoi, private communication.
- T. Yanagisawa and Y. Shimoi, Phys. Rev. Lett. **74**, 4939 (1995); ibid **76**, 556 (E) (1996).
- 86. R. Strack and D. Vollhardt, Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 3425 (1994).
- 87. Y. Teki, T. Takui. K. Itoh, H. Iwamura, and K. Kobayashi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108, 2147 (1986).
- 88. T. Yanagisawa, unpublished.
- 89. C.N. Yang, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63, 2144 (1989).
- 90. C.N. Yang and S.C. Zhang, Mod. Phys. Lett. B4, 759 (1990).
- 91. C.N. Yang, Rev. Mod. Phys. **34**, 694 (1962).
- 92. F.H.L. Essler, V.E. Korepin and K. Schoutens, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 3848 (1991).
- D.J. Thouless, The Quantum Mechanics of Many-Body Systems (Academic Press, New York and London, 1972).
- 94. S.Q. Shen and Z.M. Qiu, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 4238 (1993).
- J.H. Wilkinson, The Algebraic Eigenvalue Problem (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1956)
- T. Kato, Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980).
- 97. P. Coleman, Phys. Rev. B29, 3035 (1984).
- F.R. Gantmacher, The Theory of Matrices (Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1989)
- 99. F. Nikaido, Convex Structure and Economic Theory, (Accademic Press, 1968).
- 100. S. Lefschetz, Introduction to Topology (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1949).
- I.M. Singer and J.A. Thorpe, Lecture Notes on Elementary Topology and Geometry (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987).
- 102. N. Iwahori, *Linear Inequalities and their Applications* (Iwanami, Tokyo, 1977) (Japanese).
- 103. A. Koyama, Mathematics for Economics Vol.4 (Iwanami, Tokyo, 1994) (Japanese).
- 104. W. Marshall, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A232, 48 (1955).
- 105. C. Zener, Phys. Rev. 82, 403 (1951).
- 106. P.W. Anderson and H. Hasegawa, Phys. Rev. 100, 675 (1955).
- 107. T. Nagamiya, K. Yosida and R. Kubo, Adv. Phys. 4, 1 (1955).
- 108. K. Kubo and N. Ohata, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 33, 21 (1972).
- 109. M. Sigrist, H. Tsunetsugu, K. Ueda, and T. M. Rice, Phys. Rev. B46, 13838 (1992).
- 110. C. Lacroix, Solid State Commun. 54, 991 (1985).
- 111. K. Kubo, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 51, 782 (1982).
- 112. P. Fazakas and E. Müller-Hartmann, Z. Phys. B85, 285 (1991).
- 113. H. Tsunetsugu, Y. Hatsugai, K. Ueda, and M. Sigrist, Phys. Rev. B46, 3175 (1992).
- 114. M. Sigrist, H. Tsunetsugu, and K. Ueda, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 2211 (1991).
- 115. T. Yanagisawa and Y. Shimoi, Phys. Rev. B48, 6104 (1993).
- 116. B. Möller and P. Wölfle, Phys. Rev. B48, 10320 (1993).
- 117. Y. Nagaoka, Phys. Rev. 147, 392 (1966).
- 118. D.J. Thouless, Proc. Phys. Soc. London 86, 893 (1965).
- 119. H. Tasaki, Phys. Rev. B40, 9192 (1989).
- 120. J.A. Riera and A.P. Young, Phys. Rev. B40, 5285 (1989).

- 121. B.S. Shastry, H.R. Krishnamurthy and P.W. Anderson, Phys. Rev. B 41, 2375 (1990).
- 122. A.G. Basil and V. Elser, Phys. Rev. B41, 4842 (1990).
- 123. W. von der Linden and D.M. Edwards, J. Phys. Cond. Matter 3, 4917 (1990).
- 124. W.O. Putikka, M.U. Luchini and M. Ogata, Phys, Rev, Lett. 69, 2288 (1992).
- 125. Th. Hanisch and E. Müller-Hartmann, Ann. Physik 2, 381 (1993).
- 126. P. Wurth, G. Uhrig, and E. Müller-Hartmann, cond-mat 9512060.
- 127. K. Penc, H. Shiba, F. Milla and T. Tsukagoshi, cond-mat 9603042.
- 128. E.H. Lieb and D.C. Mattis, Phys. Rev. 125, 164 (1962)
- 129. T. Xiang and N. d'Ambrumenil, Phys. Rev. B46, 599 (1992); ibid B46,11179 (1992).
- 130. A. Montorsi and D.K. Campbell, cond-mat 9502027.
- 131. J. de Boer, V.E. Korepin and A. Schadschneider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 789 (1995).
- 132. R. Fernandez, J. Fröhlich and A.D. Sokal, Random Walks, Critical Phenomena, and Triviality in Quantum Field Theory (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1992).
- 133. J. Fröhlich, R. Israel, E.H. Lieb, and B. Simon, Commun. Math. Phys. 62, 1 (1978).
- 134. J. Fröhlich, R. Israel, E.H. Lieb, and B. Simon, J. Stat. Phys. 22, 297 (1980).
- 135. O. Bratteli and D.W. Robinson, Operator Algebras and Quantum Statistical Mechanics I (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1979).